

# Università di Pisa

# PhD School in ENDOCRINE, METABOLIC and PSYCHIATRIC SCIENCES

### Course in <u>NEUROBIOLOGY and CLINICAL MEDICINE of AFFECTIVE</u> <u>DISORDERS</u>

SSD: BIO 10

Thesis

A multidisciplinary approach to study the effects of balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy treatments on Fibromyalgia.

<u>PhD student</u> Dr. Ylenia Da Valle <u>Tutor and Chief of PhD Course</u> Prof. Antonio Lucacchini

THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF PHILOSOPHIAE DOCTOR IN NEUROBIOLOGY AND CLINICAL MEDICINE OF AFFECTIVE DISORDERS 2013

# INDICE

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	6
FIRROMYALCIA	6
FTIOPATHOGENESIS	8
THE OTHER ASPECTS OF FM	10
Orytocin and FM	10
BDNF and FM	12
SERT and FM	12
$\stackrel{\bullet}{\leftrightarrow} ATP AND FM$	15
DIAGNOSIS OF FM	16
PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT	18
NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT	20
PROTEOMICS	20
TWO_DIMENSIONAL ELECTROPHODESIS	25 26
SAMDIE DEEDADATION	20
FIDET DIMENSION	20
SECOND DIMENSION	27
MASS SPECTROMETRY NANOL C-ESI-MS/MS	20
SATIVA	30
PROTEOMIC BIOMARKERS AND FM	30 31
	22
AIM	33
METHODS	34
PATIENTS	34
CLINICAL EVALUATIONS	35
WHOLE SALIVA SAMPLES: COLLECTION AND PREPARATION	37
BLOOD SAMPLES PREPARATION	38
PLATELET MEMBRANE PREPARATION.	39
[ <sup>3</sup> H]-PAROXETINE BINDING ASSAY	39
OXYTOCIN DETERMINATION	40
PLASMA AND SERUM BDNF DETERMINATION	40
INTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE 5'-TRIPHOSPHATE (ATP) DETERMINATION	41
2-D ANALYSIS	42
STAINING AND IMAGE ANALYSIS	43
ENZYME LINKED-IMMUNOSORBENT ASSAY OF TRANSALDOLASE, PHOSPHOGLICERATE	
MUTASE1 AND ALPHA-2-GLYCOPROTEIN1 ZINC BINDING PROTEINS	43
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	44
RESULTS	45
CLINICAL ASSESSMENT	45
DETERMINATION OF BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS: EVALUATION OF OXYTOCIN. BDNF. A	TP AND
SEROTONIN TRANSPORTER LEVELS DURING THERAPY	51

IDENTIFICATION OF PROTEINS (RESPONSIVE) TO BALNEOTHERAPY AND MUD-BATH THERAPY	
TREATMENT.	53
VALIDATION OF TRANSALDOLASE (TALDO1), PHOSPHOGLICERATE MUTASE1 (PGAM1) AND	D
ALPHA-2-GLYCOPROTEIN1, ZINC BINDING (AZGP1) BY ELISA KIT ANALYSIS	56

<u>58</u>

## ABSTRACT

Fibromyalgia (FM) is a chronic non-inflammatory musculoskeletal disorder characterized by a variety of symptoms related to pain. A wide range of other unspecific symptoms may characterize the disease including fatigue, sleep disturbances, mood disorders, morning stiffness, anxiety, depression, cognitive dysfunction (e.g., memory problems, concentration difficulties, diminished mental clarity), irritable bowel and bladder syndrome, sexual dysfunction and sicca symptoms. In the last decade, many attempts have been carried out for the research of specific biomarkers in FM, but, at present, there are no specific markers, the diagnosis is basically clinical. The complexity of the disease means that there isn't a therapeutic treatment standards and this is demonstrated by the fact that pharmacological treatments are often applied in combination with non-pharmacological treatments. Among non-pharmacological interventions the most used there is the spa therapy, which includes hydrotherapy, balneotherapy, physiotherapy, mud-pack therapy and exercise.

In the present work, to study the effects of both balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy treatments in patients affected by FM, we used rheumatological, psychiatric, biochemical and proteomic approach.

Forty-one FM patients (39 F, 2 M), who fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology criteria received 2-week thermal therapy program comprising therapy once daily for 6 days/week. Twenty-one patients received mud-bath treatment, while the other twenty balneotherapy. Pain, symptoms, and quality of life were assessed. Oxytocin, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), ATP and serotonin transporter levels during therapy were assayed by commercial kits. Comparative whole saliva proteomic analysis was performed using a combination of 2-D and nano-LC-ESI-MS/MS spectrometry techniques. The Elisa kit was performed to validate different expression of transaldolase, phosphoglicerate mutase1 and zinc alpha-2-glycoprotein1

proteins. We observed reduction in pain, FIQ values and improvement of SF36 in both groups of patients treated with mud-bath or balneotherapy. The improvement of the outcome measures occurred with different timing and duration in the two spa treatments. A significant decrease of neuropeptide concentrations was observed either after balneo-theraphy or mud-bath therapy when assayed after twelve weeks, while no significant change of oxytocin levels was detected. Significant differences were observed for PGAM1 and zinc-alpha 2 glycoprotein protein expression.

Our results showed that the thermal treatment might have a beneficial effect on the specific symptoms of the disease. In particular, while balneotherapy gives results that in most patients occur after the end of the treatment but which are no longer noticeable after 3 months, the mud-bath treatment gives more lasting results.

# **INTRODUCTION**

# **Fibromyalgia**

Fibromyalgia (FM) is a chronic non-inflammatory musculoskeletal disorder which can occur as a primary disease or in association with other autoimmune diseases (i.e. Rheumatoid arthritis, Systemic sclerosis, Sjogren's syndrome, autoimmune thyroiditis, tetany and chronic fatigue syndrome). In 1990, The American College of Rheumatology laid out several sets of criteria for the diagnosis of FM [1]. The first criterion required patients to report at least 3 months of widespread pain. Pain was considered widespread if it was present in four quadrants of the body, the right and left side as well as above and below the waist. Axial skeleton pain is also very commonly present in FM and is often considered a fifth "quadrant." The second diagnostic criterion was widespread pain in response to a tender point examination. In this assessment the clinician presses on 18 specific areas (Fig.1), the patient's report of pain in at least 11 of these tender points completes the requirements for the diagnosis of FM.



Fibromyalgia Tender Points General locations of the 18 tender points that make up the criteria for identifying fibromyalgia.

A wide range of other unspecific symptoms may characterize the disease including fatigue, sleep disturbances, mood disorders, morning stiffness, anxiety, depression, cognitive dysfunction (e.g., memory problems, concentration difficulties, diminished mental clarity), sicca symptoms, sexual dysfunction and autonomic complaints, such as irritable bowel and bladder syndromes [2], [3], [5]. FM syndrome exists in all ethnic groups and is not limited to affluent or industrialized nations. Current estimates suggest that between 2 and 4% of the general population suffer from the syndrome and the condition is more common amongst women than men, while representing 30% of rheumatic diseases [6],[7]. The most recent estimates from the United States suggest that FM affects about 5% of all women, and is the third most common rheumatic disorder after low back pain and osteoarthritis [8]. In a more recent study from Europe, the estimated overall prevalence of FM was 4.7% for chronic widespread pain, and was 2.9% when stronger pain and fatigue criteria were simultaneously used. Symptoms usually appear between the ages of 20 and 55 although juvenile FM in patients as young as 10 years old or even less has been reported and is probably under-recognised [9]. The disorder may be dormant for years until triggered by infection, injury, physical or emotional stress or sleep disturbance [10]. The development of FM often leads to a premature retirement, to limitation of physical activity and waste of years with an acceptable quality of life, as well as the highest rate of medical consultations. For such reasons, FM represents a major socio-economic problem [11], and therefore, efforts should be directed towards the identification of specific diagnostic tests and specific treatment to reduce pain and disability.

#### Etiopathogenesis

In the last decade, significant improvements have been made in the knowledge of the mechanisms involved in the altered pain threshold of FM patients [12], [13]. FM clearly differs in pathogenesis from most other rheumatological disorders in which autoimmunity plays a central role. Nevertheless, many attempts have been made to identify immunological markers in FM, leading on the whole to inconclusive results. Several studies have demonstrated increased levels of antiserotonin antibodies in FM, but these antibodies do not appear to have diagnostic relevance. Other nonspecific autoantibodies that have been studied in FM include antiganglioside antithromboplastin antipolymer antibody, anti-68/84, and anti-45kDa. These antibodies may represent nonspecific immune activation, and hitherto none has been useful either clinically or as a research end point. Since FM is characterized by widespread pain, and the origin of pain is inflammation, many studies have focused on the inflammatory hypothesis for FM, although FM is generally regarded as a non-inflammatory disease. Special attention has been paid on circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines as possible markers in FM patients [17]. The interleukin (IL)-8 has been consistently demonstrated to be increased in FM patients in several studies and was correlated with severity of pain [14], the same is true for IL-6, which is associated with hypersensitivity to pain, fatigue and depression. The environmental factors may play a prominent role in triggering the development of FM and related conditions. Environmental 'stressors' temporally associated with the development of FM or chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) include physical (and particularly skeletal) trauma, certain infections (e.g. hepatitis C, Epstein-Barr virus, parvovirus, Lyme disease), emotional stress and other regional pain conditions or autoimmune disorders [15]. The environmental factors may be relevant, but often are not enough to trigger the disease. In fact, extensive studies have shown that genetic factors may predispose individuals to FM. Recent familial studies have

suggested an underlying genetic susceptibility on which environmental factors trigger the expression of symptoms. Thus, first-degree relatives of individuals with FM display an eightfold greater risk of developing FM compared with the general population [14]. The principal gene polymorphisms supposed to be a risk factor for FM are those implicated in mood disorders but results are often controversial. Polymorphisms in the serotonergic 5-hydroxy tryptamine 2A receptor (T/T phenotype), the dopamine 4 receptor and the catecholamine o-methyl transferase enzyme (COMT), the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) have therefore been detected at higher frequencies in patients with FM [12]. In particular, the 5-HTT, which cleaves the synapse from the neurotransmitter, plays a crucial role in the termination and fine-tuning of serotonergic transmission. Alterations in 5-HTT function or expression may be involved in the pathogenesis of different disorders, especially those in which there are depressive symptoms. Offenbaecher and colleagues were the first to analyze the genotypes of the 5-HTT promoter locus (5HTTLPR) in patients with FM. They found that the S/S genotype of 5-HTT occurred more frequently in FM patients than in healthy controls. This association seems to be interesting considering that 5-HTT is involved in many conditions that are either risk factors for -or frequent concomitants to- FM, such as anxiety, Bipolar Disorder, Psychosis, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and Major Depressive Disorder [17].

FM is considered to be a prototypical example of a central sensitization syndrome. The term "central sensitization", introduced by Woolf in 1983, implies a condition in which the central nervous system over-reacts to a variety of stimuli reaching it, thus causing what would normally be perceived as innocuous to end up being interpreted as painful and unpleasant. This basic neuro-physiological condition has been demonstrated, among other modalities, by the increased response of the central nervous system (CNS) to experimental stimulation, documented through sophisticated neuro-imaging techniques,

as well as by the decreased capacity of the brain to inhibit and modulate incoming pain signals [18].

FM is often associated with increased prevalence of depressive symptoms, major depression and anxiety. The cause and pathophysiology of FMs is unclear; pathophysiological hypotheses include impairment in the functioning of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis and alterations in specific neurotransmitters such as substance P, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), noradrenaline (norepinephrine) and serotonin (5-HT) [19]. Stressful experiences lead to depression in some people who are already genetically predisposed, and increase the probability of FM exordium.

Various areas in the CNS are responsible for inhibiting ascending pain transmission within the spinal cord through the activity of inhibitory neurotransmitters, which include 5-HT, norepinephrine, enkephalins,  $\gamma$ -amino butyric acid and adenosine. A decrease in this pain inhibitory loop is an important component of central sensitization syndrome [16].

#### The Other Aspects of FM

#### ✤ Oxytocin and FM

The neuropeptide oxytocin is a nonapeptide produced in the paraventricular (PVN) and supraoptic (SO) nuclei of the hypothalamus. It is well known that oxytocin is widely in many areas of the central nervous system and the spinal cord. Its effects include both hormonal and neuronal processes. Among the latest, oxytocin may modify behavior of learning and memory. Under physiological conditions oxytocin from the magnocellular neurons is mainly transported from the PVN to the posterior lobe of the pituitary and there released into the vein system and the circulation. In contrast, oxytocin acting as a neuropeptide/neuromodulator is released from parvocellular neurons projecting

elsewhere to various other brain regions. These neurons also project to the spinal cord, where they terminate on the presynaptic neurons of the sympathetic system in the area where pain modulation takes place. This latter function of oxytocin is not likely to contribute to changes in peripheral plasma oxytocin concentrations. Oxytocin may also act as a powerful stimulant for the secretion of adreno-corticotropin hormone (ACTH) at the anterior lobe of the pituitary. This is of interest, as perturbations in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis have been seen in FM patients. It has therefore been hypothesized that long-standing stress might be one important factor behind the pathophysiological mechanisms in the development to the FM. Oxytocin is known to have anti-nociceptive effects: it has been shown that a continuous infusion of oxytocin could increase thresholds of visceral sensory perception in Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS) patients through a modulation of the activity of afferent nerve pathways. Moreover, in a patient with opiate resistant cancer pain, the injection of oxytocin into the third ventricle was reported to result in effective analgesia [21]. The other studies also has revealed anxiolytic and sedative effects as well as anti-depressive and anti-stress effects of oxytocin. Differences of serum oxytocin expression in FM patients has been reported by Anderberg and colleagues [22] which suggested that depressed FM patients have a reduced level of neuropeptide with respect to nondepressed FM patients. This is of interest, if we consider that often the onset of FM coincides with the advent of some kind of physical stress and/or emotional. Moreover, the steroid hormones, and estrogen in particular, stimulate the synthesis of oxytocin and the affinity to its receptors. The effect pattern of oxytocin as well as the dependence of oxytocin on estrogen make oxytocin of special interest in FM research considering that 90% of the patients struck by the disorder are women and many of the patients have their onset of the disorder in their fifth to sixth decade when estrogen levels decline [22].

#### **♦** BDNF and FM

Neurotrophic factors and neurotransmitters are two major classes of intercellular signals that play a key role in regulating synaptic plasticity and in cell survival throughout life. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a member of the nerve-growth factor (neurotrophin) family. By promoting neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity and cell survival, BDNF plays a pivotal role in the development and plasticity of the brain. Recent research has identified BDNF and 5-HT as two prominent signals that act in concert to regulate aspects of neural plasticity in multiple brain regions. In the sensory system BDNF is produced by a subset of primary sensory neurons (nociceptors), which are located in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG), that respond to tissue injury. BDNF is then transported in the dorsal horn where it can be released and activate trkB receptors that is coupled to activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase and protein kinase B (Akt). Activation of trkB receptors by BDNF modulates two types of synapse: the first pain synapse in the spinal cord and the synapses in the CA1 area of the hippocampus. Furthermore, exogenous BDNF facilitates the release of glutamate in the hippocampus and GABA in the spinal cord [23]. During development of the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, BDNF induces the differentiation of neural stem cells into neurons and promotes the survival of newly generated neurons. BDNF signaling at synapses enhances long-term potentiation (LTP), a process of synaptic strengthening associated with learning and memory. BDNF also plays an important role in preventing death of neurons during development, and promotes cell survival during stressful conditions [24]. Recent findings have suggested an involvement of BDNF as a neuromediator of hyperalgesia and spinal central sensitization. BDNF seems to have a role in neurodegenerative disorders [24], in epileptic and psychogenic non-epileptic seizures [25], and in Major Depression Disorder, but about this, there are conflicting results. Some studies have suggested an involvement of BDNF in the pathogenesis of major

depression which is often associated with pain syndrome, that at the level of Peripheral Nerve System (PNS) is mediated by BDNF [26]. Moreover, in animal and human studies, antidepressant treatments could increase central as well as peripheral BDNF levels. Recent studies have shown the significant increase of BDNF concentrations in serum [26] and in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [27] of FM patients when compared to healthy subjects and to chronic migraine, respectively. In a recent study [26], comparisons of FM patients with and without recurrent major depression as well as with or without antidepressive medication in low analgesic doses revealed no statistical significant differences, indicating that the found increase of BDNF serum concentrations in FM patients is independent of pre-existing major depression or antidepressive low dose medication [26]. However, BDNF levels were significantly correlated with the duration of chronic pain. This data are confirmed by Haas et al. [28] suggesting that BDNF is involved in the pathophysiology of abnormal pain syndromes. There are different and controversial reports which discuss about the role of BDNF in the pathophysiological mechanisms responsible for the symptoms in the FM, particularly anxiety and depression. In fact, Nugraha et al. [29], [30] have demonstrated that BDNF serum concentration among FM patients were significantly different in depression subgroup instead that were not observed in the subgroup anxiety.

#### **SERT** and FM

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) is a modulating neurotransmitter produced by neurons located in the brainstem raphe nucleus; the axons of these 5-HT neurons innervate multiple cortical and subcortical brain regions to regulate an array of behaviors and physiologic variables, including sensorimotor control, cognition, mood, anxiety, sleep, food intake, and aggressive and impulsive behavior. As already said, 5-

13

HT and BDNF co-regulate one another and play an important role in neuronal survival and synaptic plasticity in the CNS and PNS [24], [26]. 5-HT, in particular, is theorized to have a function in stage 4 sleep and in the pain threshold. In this regard, Russell and colleagues found low levels of 5-HT and tryptophan (5-HT precursor) in serum [31] and in CSF [32] of group of FM patients respect to healthy controls, explaining, so, the use in the treatment of FM and related symptoms of all those drugs inhibiting reuptake of neurotransmitters. 5-HT exerts its actions by means of interaction with distinct receptors, which are differentiated on the basis of structures, molecular mechanisms and pharmacological profiles. In the past few decades, much attention has been focused on the specific protein which promotes the 5-HT reuptake into the pre-synaptic terminals, once released in the synaptic cleft, the so-called 5-HT transporter (SERT) which control the endogenous activity of 5-HT. For this activity, the SERT is the main target of antidepressants (SSRIs) such as paroxetine and fluoxetine. Moreover, it has been postulated that serotonergic neurotransmission has a significant function in nociception; alterations in 5-HT metabolism and transmission might therefore be important in the pathogenesis of FM. These findings support the proposal that aberrant pain perception in FM also results from an instability of the 5-HT system in FM. The SERT is widely expressed in intestinal epithelial cells, in central or peripheral serotonergic neurons and in platelets [19]. Since blood platelets and neurons share a similar reuptake system of 5-HT, platelet SERT has become a useful peripheral model of presynaptic serotonergic activity, particularly after the demonstration of its identity with the same structure expressed in the CNS [33]. Studies concerning the expression and function of SERT by estimating the number of binding sites for [<sup>3</sup>H]-paroxetine and the uptake of serotonin, have shown an involvement of the serotonergic system in psychosis [34], eating disorders, such as bulimia and anorexia [35], [36] and in FM [19] with a reduction in the density of binding sites for platelet paroxetine coupled to a reduced rate of re-uptake

of 5-HT. In particular, recent clinical study have demonstrated that FM patients have fewer SERTs expressed on the cellular membrane than healthy subjects and a deficit in functionality demonstrated by a decrease in transport rate [19]. A reduced density and rate of SERT are consistent with previous observations indicating that levels of 5-HT are altered in patients with FM.

#### ✤ ATP and FM

All living things, require a continual supply of energy to keep the organism alive. Some of these processes occur continually, such as the metabolism of foods, the synthesis of large biologically important molecules (e.g. proteins and DNA), and the transport of molecules and ions throughout the organism. Other processes occur only at certain times, such as muscle contraction.

The Adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) performs this function acting as a special carrier of energy given by its chain of phosphate groups. The ATP is produced by mitochondria, through the ATP synthase localized on their inner membrane and forming part of the oxidative phosphorylation system. It is one of the end products of photophosphorylation, cellular respiration, and fermentation and used by enzymes and structural proteins in many cellular processes, cellular respiration (as a coenzyme) biosynthetic reactions (DNA, RNA and proteins), motility and cell division (maintenance of cell structure and for muscle contraction) and cell signaling. In a last decade, in parallel with neuroendocrine studies also tissue ultrastructural analyses have been carried out in affected subjects: electron microscopy has revealed disorganized fibers and actin filaments, altered mitochondria, defects in capillary microcirculation, glycogen and lipid accumulation together with DNA fragmentation in muscle biopsies of FM patients [37]. Moreover, the use of <sup>31</sup>P magnetic resonance spectroscopy has

allowed the analysis of biochemical substrates in the FM muscle: higher concentrations of phosphodiesterase products and inorganic phosphate, have been observed in patients in comparison to controls, together with a decrease in phosphocreatine, ATP and phosphocreatine/inositol phosphate ratio in the quadriceps, confirming previous results in trapezius biopsies of FM patients. A reduction of ATP levels in FM subjects than healthy subjects is confirmed on platelets [37] suggesting a bioenergetics alteration in FM.

#### **Diagnosis of FM**

The mechanisms underlying the FM are still unclear and largely unknown, and as a direct consequence, the diagnosis is very difficult. The difficulty is that laboratory tests are normal and many of the symptoms mimic those of other conditions including many rheumatic complaints, psychiatric conditions and other somatic disorders such as depression, anxiety but also intense pain, chronic fatigue and sleep disturbances. It is therefore important to exclude rheumatic disorders before proceeding to a diagnosis of FM. It has been estimated that it takes an average of 5 years from the time the patient's first reports symptoms to the time when FM is formally diagnosed [38]. The Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) (Table 1) gives a good idea of the full range of symptoms that are regularly found. Although there is no official consensus of what constitutes a clinically significant score on this scale most patients diagnosed with FM have an FIQ total score of at least 50 (out of a maximum of 100—see Table 1). Severely afflicted patients frequently score 70 or more [38]. In spite of the alterations found in the different studies and although some criteria were established to standardize patients for research studies, the diagnosis of FM is basically clinical [13] and the lack of easily

accessible laboratory measures makes difficult to collect under the term of FM, patients

presenting with homogeneous features and prognosis [39], [40].

**Table 1.** Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ).
 Question 1 Physical functioning During the past week were you able to: Do shopping? Do laundry with a washer and dryer? Prepare meals? Wash dishes/cooking utensils by hand? Vacuum a rug? Make beds? Walk several blocks? Visit friends or relatives? Do yard work or gardening? Drive a car? Climb stairs? Question 2 In the past week, how many days did you feel good? (1-7)Question 3 How many days last week did you miss work, including housework, because of fibromyalgia? (1-7)Question 4 When you worked, how much did pain or other symptoms of your fibromyalgia interfere with your ability to do your work, including housework? (No problem with work <> Great difficulty with work) Question 5 How bad has your pain been? (No pain <> Very severe pain) Question 6 How tired have you been? (No tiredness <> Very tired) Question 7 How have you felt when you get up in the morning? (Awoke well rested <> Awoke very tired) Question 8 How bad has your stiffness been? (No stiffness <> Very stiff) Question 9 How nervous or anxious have you felt? (Not anxious <> Very anxious) Ouestion 10 How depressed or blue have you felt?

The items in question 1 are scored 0, 1, 2 or 3 for always, most of the time, occasionally or never. Because some patients may not do some of the tasks listed, they are given the option of deleting items from scoring. In order to obtain a comparable score for all patients, the mean of the scores for the rated items is used. The average score is thus 0-3. This score is multiplied by 3.33 to obtain an adjusted score (maximum 10). Question 2 is scored inversely of the number of days (0 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 7, 1 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 6, 2 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 5, 3 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 4, 4 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 3, 5 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 2, 6 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 1 and 7 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> 0). It is multiplied by 1.43 to obtain an adjusted score (maximum 10). Question 3 is directly the number of days. It is multiplied by 1.43 to obtain an adjusted score (maximum 10). Questions 4–10 are visual analogue scales scored on a 100 mm line with the limits given in parentheses. The score (0–10) is the distance (in centimetre from the left hand end). These values are not adjusted. Scoring: The FIQ is scored so that a higher score indicates a greater impact of the syndrome. Each of the 10 items has a maximum possible score of 10. The maximum possible score is thus 100.

To date, the diagnosis of FM is performed according to the criteria established by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) in 1990 and by new diagnostic criteria have been proposed by Wolfe and colleagues [41] in 2010. The interpretation of these criteria is subject to criticism: a limit on net eleven "tender points" could give rise to contradictions as each and every muscle tendon insertion is sore subject FM and tenderness of the various tender points may vary spontaneously, day after day. At present, there are no specific markers of FM, and many of them are used only to understand the pathogenetic mechanisms and to identify patient subgroups. Therefore it is desirable to identify precise biomarkers of FM according to feasibility and reproducibility criteria, for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes [13].

#### **Pharmacological treatment**

The complexity of the disease means that there isn't a therapeutic treatment standards and this is demonstrated by the fact that pharmacological treatments are often applied in combination with non-pharmacological treatments. Current evidence suggests a multifaceted treatment program based on patient education, medications to improve symptoms, and the aggressive use of exercise and cognitive-behavioral approaches to retain or restore function. Therefore, the treatment of FM symptoms requires a multimodal approach that has to consider somatic aspects (i.e., pain onset, location, quality, quantity, duration), emotional aspects (i.e., mood and anxiety), cognitive aspects (i.e., coping styles, beliefs about pain), and environmental aspects (i.e., social context and patient relationships). From the pharmacological point of view, categories of drugs most commonly used are: analgesics, antidepressants, muscle relaxants and anti-epileptics. duloxetine and milnacipran, two selective serotonin and norepinephrin inhibitors, pregabalin (antiepileptic drug), and alpha2-delta agonist, have been approved by Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of FM symptoms. On the contrary, The European Medicines Agency did not approve any specific treatment for the symptoms of FM up to now. These drugs and a variety of other compounds are used for the management of FM based on their clinically meaningful and durable effect on pain in monotherapy trials and their beneficial effect on other symptom domains, such as fatigue, sleep alterations, cognition, and function [58]. The results of clinical trials of anti-inflammatory medications have been generally disappointing, but it has been found that the Tramadol (with or without acetaminophen) is effective in FM subjects [59]. Tramadol has multiple analgesic effects: it inhibits norepinephrine and serotonin reuptake, and its major metabolite binds weakly to opioid receptors. Opioids may be helpful in treating FM pain but may induce tolerance and become habit forming and are also associated with adverse effects such as constipation, sedation, and nausea. Their use should be considered only after all other medicinal and non-medicinal therapies have been tried [59]. Antidepressants may restore neurotransmitter levels and modulate receptor expression in the hypothalamus, which normalizes hyperactivity of the HPA axis. Antidepressants that increase 5-HT- and NE-mediated neurotransmission are frequently used to treat FM and other chronic pain, particularly neuropathic pain. Inhibiting both 5-HT and NE reuptake transporters with tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) or serotonergic and noradrenergic reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) seems to be more effective in treating pain (and FM in general) than inhibiting either transporter alone with selective serotonergic (SSRIs) or noradrenergic re-uptake inhibitors. However, the efficacy of TCAs is counterbalanced by their side effects. Among the many muscle relaxants, those who have demonstrated greater effects are cyclobenzaprine and tizanidine. Finally, among the antiepileptics, are used the Alpha2-delta ligands (i.e., gabapentin and pregabalin) that act at a number of sites that may be relevant to pain,

and particularly limit neuronal excitation and enhance inhibition [58]. Finally, in pharmacological treatment, are sometimes used antagonists of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate (NMDA) receptors, which may play a key role in the nervous system reorganization thought to be involved in maintaining chronic pain, and its blockade can relieve pain in patients with FM [59].

#### Non-pharmacological treatment

In recent years, at least three sets of guidelines have been developed by different medical organizations in an attempt to standardize the treatment of this condition (American Pain Society, European League Against Rheumatism, Association of the Medical Society of Germany). The current recommendations suggest that the optimal treatment of FM requires a multidisciplinary approach with a combination of nonpharmacological and pharmacological treatment modalities tailored according to pain intensity, function, associated features, such as depression, fatigue and sleep disturbances, decided through discussion with the patient, so the main strategy is symptom management [59]-[62]. Current therapeutic strategies are aimed primarily at reducing pain and other symptoms that the disease involves (sleep disorders, anxiety, depression, etc..). In recent years there has been in-depth study regarding the complementary and alternative medicine as a possible solution curative or at least, possible relief for all patients because of debilitating symptoms have seen their daily lives strongly affected. Among non-pharmacological interventions the most used are physical therapy, psychotherapy, acupuncture, massage, and balneotherapy [63]-[66]. In the context of complementary medicine, the spa therapy, which includes hydrotherapy, balneotherapy, physiotherapy, mud-pack therapy and exercise [67]-[69], is known to be one of the most recognized therapeutic strategies for the treatment of rheumatic (as well as

dermatological) disorder to pain alleviation [70]. The efficacy of this treatment for these indications underscores the applicability of spa therapy for the treatment of FM [71] but despite the long history and popularity, there are not many randomized controlled trials that demonstrate their effect on FM patients [71], and only a few were paralleled by a biological evaluation. Despite there are several articles on the effects of thermal therapies on FM management, its role in modern medicine is still not clear. About the spa treatments, balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy are the most popular methods used, and several studies are aimed at understanding the physiological mechanisms that determine these treatments in patients with FM. In Table 2 are represented the most important randomized controlled trials performed in FM in the last years[69]. Despite patients who were enrolled in these studies relate the beneficial effects of spa treatments, although in short term, in the reduction of pain, it is difficult to distinguish the effects of thermal applications from the benefits that could be derived from a stay in a spa environment [72]. The net benefit is probably the result of a combination of factors, among which, mechanical, thermal, and chemical effects are most prominent. A distinction can be made between the non-specific (hydrotherapeutic in a broad sense) mechanisms of simple bathing in hot tap water, and the specific (hydromineral and crenotherapeutic) mechanisms, which depend on the chemical and physical properties of the water used [69]. In recent years, several hypotheses have been formulated on the beneficial effect of the baths and , in particular, they have focused attention on the inflammatory process and the release of all those mediators (cytokines) involved in the inflammatory response. Recent studies have posited a connection between cytokines and certain symptoms of FM (e.g., sleep disorders, hyperalgesia, cognitive dysfunctions, fatigue, stress and anxiety), and it also appears that these molecules may play a role in the communication between the immune and nervous systems [73]. Particularly, IL-6 and IL-8, whose release is caused by substance P, seem

to have an important role in generating the symptoms of FM, since IL-8 promotes the pain by sympathetic while the IL-6 is associated with hypersensitivity to pain, fatigue and depression. It has been shown, in fact, that the condition of major depression, for example, is followed by the activation of the inflammatory response with a consequent release of pro-inflammatory cytokines mentioned above, and therefore, the FM patients are treated with antidepressants who own the aim to suppress the production of IL-8 and IL-6 as promoters of inflammation, and thus promote the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 [74]. The profile of pro- and anti-inflammatory properties has attracted considerable attention in the scientific field, and not by chance are trying to identify possible markers of inflammatory cytokines such as FM. In addition to high levels of IL-8, in diseased subjects were also found high levels of TNF $\alpha$  that would seem to be another very important factor in the inflammatory process underlying the FM [73], [75]. The anti-inflammatory effect of balneotherapy has been assessed on the basis of serum levels of some biochemical factors in patients; it is shown that in arthrosis treatments such as mud baths can reduce the serum levels of IL-1 [76]. The mud-balneotherapy therapy appears to have a positive effect on pro-inflammatory factors particularly involved in the genesis of pain, once again reducing the serum levels, we speak in this regard of prostaglandins PGE2 and leukotriene LTB4 [76].

Authors	Sample	Intervention	Outcome	Follow-up	Results
	size		measures		
Buskila <sup>[77]</sup>	A: 24 B: 24	A: Bal. (20 min daily for 10 days at 37 °C) B: No treatment	VAS FIQ, TPC, Dolorimeter, FDI	3 months	Significant between group improvement in pain and TPC in favour of A, still seen after 3 months
Neumann <sup>[78]</sup>	A: 24 B: 24	A: Bal. (20 min daily × 10 days at 37 °C) B: No treatment	SF36, AIMS, VAS	3 months	Significant improvement in most subscales of the SF36 for both groups. The improvement in physical components of the QoL index lasted 3 months, whereas improvement in measures of psychological well-being was of shorter duration. Subjects in group A reported greater and longer lasting improvement than subjects in the group B
Evcik <sup>[79]</sup>	A: 22 B: 20	A: Bal. (20 min × 5days/week for 3 weeks at 36 °C) B: No treatment	VAS, FIQ, TPC, BDI	6 months	The group A showed statistically significant improvement in TPC, VAS, FIQ and BDI at the end of the therapy and this improvement persisted at 6 months except for BDI
Dönmez <sup>[80]</sup>	A: 16 B: 14	A: Spa therapy (thermal pool baths 20 min $\times$ 6 days/week for 2 weeks at 36 $\pm$ 1 °C, pressurizzed shower at 37°C or classical massage for 15min each on altermate days) B: No treatment	VAS, FIQ, TPC, BDI	9 months	Significant improvement in pain, TPC and FIQ for group A. The pain and TPC results persisted for up to one month and the FIQ results for up to 6 months
Ardiç <sup>[76]</sup>	A: 12 B: 12	A: Bal. (20 min × 5 days/week for 3 weeks at 37 °C) B: No treatment	VAS, TPC, FIQ, BDI	3 weeks	Statistically significant improvement in VAS, BDI, TPC and FIQ was only found in group A at the end of the treatment cycle
Fioravanti <sup>[72]</sup>	A: 40 B: 40	A: Mud-packs (15 min daily for 2 weeks at 45 °C) and baths (10 min daily for 2 weeks at 37 °C–38 °C) B: No treatment	FIQ, TPC, VAS, AIMS, HAQ	16 weeks	In group A, a significant improvement in all parameters was recorded after mud-pack therapy and after 16 weeks
Özkurt <sup>[81]</sup>	A: 25 B: 25	A: Bal. (20 min twice/day for 2 weeks at 36 °C ± 1 °C) B: No treatment	VAS, FIQ, BDI, PGA, IGA, SF-36, TPC	3 months	Statistically significant improvement was recorded in group A for all outcome parameters at the end of the treatment cycle and after 3 months, except for BDI and IGA
Bazzichi <sup>[82]</sup>	A:20 B:21	A: Bal. (20min/day for 2 weeks at 38 °C) B: mud-pack (10min daily at 47 °C) + Bal. (10min daily at 38 °C) for 2 weks	FIQ, SF-36, HAQ, FACIT, other biological parameters	12 weeks	Group B showed a significant improvement of the VAS pain and SF-36. Group A showed a slight improvement of VAS pain and FIQ. Significant decrease of BDNF in both group. Group B showed a decrease of PGAM1 and aZGP1 protein.

#### **Table 2.** Main characteristics of studies with spa therapy.

Abbreviations: Bal, Balneotherapy; VAS, Visual Analogue Scale; PAS, Pressure Algometric Scores; FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; TPC, Tender Point Count; FDI, Functional Disability Index; SF36, Short Form-36; AIMS, Arthritis Impact Measurement Scales; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; HAQ, Health Assessment Questionnaire; PGA, Patient global assessment; IGA, Investigator's Global Assessment. FACIT, Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale

Although not totally proven, alpha1-antitrypsin (AAT) gene deficiency (AATD) are suspected to contribute to FM pathogenesis. One study focused on the effects of AAT on two women AATD and affected by FM, showed a possible relationship between AAT deficiency and the disease itself, it was observed that a therapy aimed at increasing the levels of AAT could effectively control symptoms of FM [83], [84]. The non-pharmacological therapies have certainly not proven the effectiveness of the practices which, however, are still widely exploited for the benefits it can bring, but despite this, intensive testing is still underway to try to understand the mechanisms that generate the FM and which impact the different therapeutic profiles have on it.

# **Proteomics**

In the last few years, it has become widely recognized that the genome only represents the first layer of complexity. Biological function is carried by the dynamic population of proteins, moreover, only the characterization of the proteins themselves can reveal posttranslational modifications (e.g., phosphorylation, sulfation, glycosylation, ubiquitination, and methylation) and give insight into protein-protein interactions and subcellular localization, thus providing clues about function. For these reasons, there is increasing interest in the field of proteomics: the large-scale identification of proteins contained in cells, tissues or body fluids [85]. The proteome was originally defined as the complete protein complement expressed by a genome [85]. However, this definition does not take into account that the proteome is a highly dynamic entity that will change based on cellular state and the extracellular milieu. Therefore, the definition of a proteome should specify that it is the protein complement of a given cell at a specified time, including the set of all protein isoforms and protein modifications [86]. Proteomic analyses can be used to identify the protein content in complex biological samples such as biological fluids and tissue extracts, and to determine the quantitative or qualitative differences for each polypeptide contained in different samples. It is expected that the proteomic profiling patterns resulting from such analyses define comprehensive molecular signatures in health and disease. The exploitation of a proteomic approach for the study of different diseases has led to the hypothesis that multiple biomarkers or a panel of biomarkers shown by proteomic profiling may correlate more reliably with a specific disease than a single biomarker or protein. Expression pattern of a known biomarker or correlation of expression of several known biomarkers can be a valuable research and clinical tool for monitoring disease or treatment progression [87].

#### **Two-dimensional electrophoresis.**

The identification of proteins from complex biological sample has traditionally been performed using 2-D PAGE coupled with mass spectrometry (MS). Two-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) separates proteins by both their isoelectric point (pI) and molecular weight. With this technique proteins are resolved into discrete spots, each of which represents a single protein that can be selectively excised and identified by MS. The high resolution of 2-DE allows the researcher to pick only the proteins of interest while bypassing the more abundant or less interesting proteins [88].

#### Sample preparation.

Preparation of samples for 2-D PAGE involves solubilization, denaturation and reduction to completely break up the interactions between the proteins [89]. Although desirable, there is no single method of sample preparation that can be universally applied due to the diverse samples which are analyzed by 2-DE gel electrophoresis [90]. The ideal sample solubilization procedure for 2-D PAGE would result in the disruption of all non-covalently bound protein complexes and aggregates into a solution of individual polypeptides [91]. However, whatever method of sample preparation is chosen, it is most important to minimize protein modifications which might result in arte-factual spots on the 2-DE maps [90]. Samples containing urea must not be heated as this may introduce considerable charge heterogeneity due to carbamylation of the proteins by isocyanate formed from the decomposition of urea. Generally speaking, samples should be subjected to as minimum handling as possible and kept cold at all times [92]. Protein extracts should not be too diluted to avoid loss of protein due to adsorption to the wall of the vessel (glass or plastic). If samples are rather diluted and

contain relatively high concentrations of salts which can interfere with IEF, samples may be desalted [90]. Alternatively, proteins can be precipitated with ice-cold TCA / acetone to remove salts. Diluted samples with a low salt concentration may also be applied directly without further treatment, if the dried IPG strips are reswollen in sample solution. In this case, solid urea, CHAPS and dithiothreitol (DTT) are added to the sample until the desired concentration is obtained [90],[93].

#### First dimension.

Iso-electro focusing (IEF) represents the first dimension of 2-DE and it is performed in individual immobilized pH gradients (IPG) strips. Each sample protein applied to an IPG strip will migrate to its isoelectric point (pI), the point at which its net charge is zero. There are strips with broad or narrow pH gradient (e. g., 3-10; 4-7; 4-9; 6-10; 5-6; 9-12; 10-12). Dried gel strips containing immobilized pH gradient were commercially introduced in 1991 (Pharmacia Biotech, Immobiline® DryStrip Gel), their adoption for the first dimension of 2-DE has produced significant improvement over the classical O' Farrell carrier ampholyte-based 2-DE separation [94]. In the original 2-DE the required pH gradient is established by the migration of individual species of carrier ampholytes to their respective pI. Variations of the complex carrier ampholyte mixtures result in variations in the shape of the pH gradient [94]. The use of commercially prepared IPG DryStrip, introduced by Bjellqvist et al. [95]. and Gorg et al. [96] eliminates these variations. The pH gradient is immobilized by covalent incorporating Immobiline® acrylamide buffers into the acrylamide matrix during polymerization. Since Immobiline consists of discrete, relatively simple molecules, they can be manufactured very reproducibly pure, eliminating batch effect as demonstrated by interlaboratory comparison [94], [97]. Further, pI resolution to 0.01 pH unit can be achieved [95]. The acrylamide matrix with the Immobiline, acrylamido buffers is cast onto a backing sheet, polymerized, washed and dried. The backing gives the strips size stability and simplify handling. The dried strips can be rehydrated in various buffers and additives that would inhibit polymerization if included at the time of casting [94].

#### Second dimension.

Prior to the second dimension (Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate PolyAcrylamide Gel Electrophoresis-SDS-PAGE), the IPG strips are equilibrated twice with gentle shaking in a solution containing urea and glycerol in order to diminish electroendosmotic effects [96] which are held responsible for reduced protein transfer from the first to the second dimension. DTT, a reducing agent, is added to the first and iodoacetamide (IAA) to the second equilibration step [98]. IAA is added to the equilibration buffer in order to remove excess DTT (responsible for the "point streaking" in silver stained patterns) [99]. After equilibration the strips are applied to vertical SDS gels in order to perform electrophoresis and to separate proteins according to their molecular weight. Polypeptides separated can be visualized by Coomassie Blue, silver staining, fluorescence or autoradiography, or by "specific" stains such as glycoprotein staining or immunochemical detection methods [90]. Whereas the "general" protein stains are carried out in the electrophoresis gel directly, immunochemical detection methods are usually performed after electrophoretic transfer ("blotting") of the separated polypeptides from the electrophoresis gel onto an immobilizing membrane [100], [101]. Today, among the variety of methods used for protein detection after gel electrophoresis, fluorescent methods offer an interesting compromise, especially for

28

detection linearity and for compatibility with mass spectrometry [102]. Stained spots excised from the electrophoresis gel can be identified by mass spectrometry.

#### Mass Spectrometry, nanoLC-ESI-MS/MS

In traditional protein chemistry, proteins were identified by de novo sequencing using automated Edman degradation. Today, this technique is replaced by mass spectrometry, which is becoming one of the most powerful techniques in protein chemistry. The reason for this is the increase in sensitivity (until 1000fold) and the speed of analysis. Today, the Nanoscale liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (nano LC-MS/MS) has become an essential tool in the field of proteomics, due to your enormous analytical advantages when dealing with sample-limited situations. Tandem mass spectrometry has been used as a microscale de novo sequencing tool for peptides because collision-induced dissociation (CID) followed by product ion scanning provides systematic fragment information of amino acid sequences. Further improvement in peptide sequencing sensitivity was accomplished by the development of nano electrospray combined with a peptide sequence tag approach for protein identification in databases. Because even one peptide is sufficient to identify a unique protein, this approach is more powerful for protein identification in proteome-scale experiments than the peptide fingerprinting approach where several peptide masses from one protein are used for identification [103]. For proteomic analysis, proteins are normally first cleaved into peptides by enzymatic digestion (i.e., usually by trypsin) and subsequently, separated by reversed phase (RP) Nano LC before data-dependent MS/MS analysis [104]. The typical microcolumns for nanoLC are prepared using RP materials with a 3-10µm diameter packed into fused silica capillaries with a 12-100µm diameter. In ESI- MS, a spray needle is used as a restrictor for packed particles to prepare a fritless column, to minimize the post-column dead volume [103]. Generally, smaller colums at a lower flowrate combined with real nanoelectrospray conditions give higher sensitivity. For peptides, in combination with C18 stationary phases, acidic conditions are usually used: Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) is one of the most popular reagents because of higher peak capacity with smaller peak width while Acetonitrile or Methanol have been used as an organic solvent in off-line infusion. Finally, because of the low flowrate, and the small size ranges of proteomic samples (<100 $\mu$ l), trap columns are useful to reduce the injection time. Spots of interest are excised from the gel and treated with tripsin, an enzyme that cleaves C-terminal to arginine (R) and lysine (K). The mixture of protein fragments (peptides) obtained after digestion is purified and subjected to mass analysis.

# Saliva

In terms of disease diagnosis and prognosis, a human body fluid (e.g., blood, urine, or saliva) appears to be more attractive than tissue because body fluid testing provides several key advantages including low invasiveness, minimum cost, and easy sample collection and processing [105] Serum or plasma have been the fluids most often used in disease diagnosis but an issue with these samples is sample preparation and handling. Another critical point is the complexity of the proteome [105]. Most importantly, when searching for biomarkers in blood, there are two serious consideration. First, the concentration of substance can vary over 9 orders of magnitude, which severely diminishes the likelihood of detecting those at the lower end of the scale; besides, blood is composed of peptides, proteins and cells that have half-lives ranging from seconds to weeks, or even a month or more. As a consequence, the presence of a given substance might not accurately reflect the current state of the organism [106]. By contrast, human

saliva is becoming a more attractive source for proteomic profiling because it can provide clues to local and systemic diseases and conditions. The physiology of the oral cavity is such that the flow of secreted fluid is continually flushing and refreshing the fluid content of the mouth. Therefore, the composition of the saliva temporally reflects the metabolic activity of the secretory elements generating that fluid at any moment[106]. The logistical advantages of salivary diagnostic are obvious; saliva is relatively easy to collect in sufficient quantities for analysis, and the costs of storage and shipping tend to be lower than those for serum and urine. Non-invasiveness, and ease of sample processing are advantageous as well [105], [107]. In addition, for health care professionals and scientists, saliva tests are safer than blood tests, which are more likely to result in exposure to HIV or hepatitis [105]. On the other hand, a variety of factors may influence the rate of salivary flow and its physiologic characteristics, including circadian rhythms and activities such as exercise, and these factors should be taken into account when saliva is used as a diagnostic fluid [107].

## **Proteomic Biomarkers and FM**

In the last few years, several attempts have been carried out to identify specific biological markers in FM, but so far no tests have proven to be of diagnostic validity. Recently, our research group focused its attention on the proteomic profiling of whole saliva (WS) in FM patients respect to healthy controls, in order to evaluate salivary biomarkers [20]. Proteomic may be defined as a large spectrum study of the expression and identification of proteins expressed in one tissue or organism [42], [43]. This approach has already been used to explore biomarkers in different disorders, such as systemic sclerosis [44]-[46], Sjögren's syndrome [47]-[49], or as research tool in thyroid neoplasms [50]-[52] or FM [17], [20], [82]. In this case we observed the exclusive and

significant over expression of two enzymes in FM saliva: transaldolase and phosphoglycerate mutase I (PGAM1). Transaldolase is an enzyme of the non-oxidative phase of the pentose phosphate pathway which is involved in the generation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced (NADPH) [53]. Many evidences have shown that oxidative stress and nitric oxide may play an important role in FM pathophysiology [54], but it is still unclear whether oxidative stress abnormalities documented in FM are the primary or secondary [55], [56]. Moreover, transaldolase links the pentose phosphate pathway to glycolysis. From this point of view, it is intriguing that another enzyme involved in the glycolysis, the PGAM1, was differently expressed in FM patients [57], [20]. PGAM1 is an enzyme of the glycolytic pathway that catalyzes the conversion of 3-phosphoglycerate (3PG) to 2-phosphoglycerate (2PG). This enzyme also promotes glycolysis and ATP production via the Citric Acid Cycle and the electron transport system, through its substrate and product (3PG and 2PG, respectively) modulates two other biosynthetic pathways derived from glycolysis: the oxidative branch of the pentose phosphate pathway and the serine biosynthesis pathway.

The present study describes the results of a multidisciplinary approach (rheumatological, psychiatric, biochemical, proteomic) of a research project entitled "Effects of balneotherapy treatment at Montecatini Terme spa on biochemical markers in fibromyalgia patients" funded by the Foundation for Scientific Thermal Research (FORST) and conducted in collaboration between the Montecatini spa (PT, Italy) and the University of Pisa (Department of Pharmacy and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Division of Rheumatology) for the evaluation of the effects of balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy on 41 patients affected by FM.

# **METHODS**

#### Patients

Forty-one primary FM patients (39 female, 2 male) aged between 31 and 69 years participated in the study. The patients enrolling was conducted in steps: in the first step we consulted about 300 medical records in order to individuate those FM patients without circulatory problems or heart disease or other conditions which influence the inclusion in the study and who lived in areas adjacent to the spa. The patients were contacted by letter or by phone to explain them the nature of the study and give a first date of appointment. The response rate of patients with this first contact was 30%. The percentage of patients who were found unsuitable or that after the first visit did not come back was 10%. At the first visit the patients were clinically classified by a rheumatologist according to the 1990 ACR criteria [1], which include the following: pain for more than 3 months from all of the four body quadrants, axial skeletal pain and pain upon digital palpation of at least 11 out of 18 specific bilateral points. The exclusion criteria were represented by the presence of contraindication to any form of balneotherapy such as a peripheral vascular disease; having taken balneotherapy in the last 12 months; pregnancy or nursing. The demographic characteristics of 41 FM patients have been summarized in Table 2. During this first visit, the rheumatologist administered the clinical questionnaires. After fulfilling the inclusion criteria and obtaining the written informed consent, the patients were randomly assigned to balneotherapy treatment. The patients were randomized using a computer-generated random number list by an independent investigator, and allocated to either the mud-bath therapy or balneotherapy treatment. Almost all the selected patients came from areas near the spa and continued to live at home and carry out their daily routines, with the exception of two patients who preferred to stay in hotels close to the spa. Daily

treatment lasted 12 consecutive sessions except Sundays at MontecatiniTerme spa (PT, Italy, Salse-Sulphate-Alkaline waters, prevalently formed of sodium chlorides and sodium and magnesium sulphates [Na<sup>+</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, Mg <sup>++</sup>, So<sup>4--</sup>], fixed residue at 180°C: 19.2 g/l). Twenty patients were treated with balneotherapy for 20 minutes a day and the other 20 patients were treated with mud-bath therapy. The mud was applied on the body surface at a temperature of 47°C for 10 min daily in the morning, followed by immersion in thermal water at 38°C for 10 min. After the spa therapy, a period of rest for both groups in a hot bathrobe followed. The entire daily treatment lasted an hour. Among the patients treated with balneotherapy, four did not take any medicines, four took antidepressants, one took anti-inflammatory drugs, four took analgesics, four took muscle relaxants and two took antiepileptics. Instead, among the patients treated with mud-bath therapy, four did not take any medicines, seven took antiepileptics. The patients were treated with mud-bath therapy, four did not take any medicines, seven took antiepileptics. The patients were receiving drug treatment for at least three months, the doses were stable and no new drugs were added during the spa treatment.

#### **Clinical evaluations**

At baseline (T0), after 2 weeks (T1) and after 12 weeks (T2) the patients were clinically evaluated using the following outcome measures: the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ), the evaluation of tenderness at tender points by digital pressure, a 10-cm visual analogue scale (VAS) for pain and tiredness (0 indicates no symptoms whereas 10 is the worst condition), the presence of absence of minor symptoms of FM (fatigue, headache, sleep disturbances, gastro-intestinal symptoms and other symptoms), the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue (FACIT fatigue) Scale (version 4), the Health Assessment questionnaire (HAQ) to determine physical

disability and the SF-36 questionnaire (ShortForm with 36 questions), a welldocumented, self-administered quality of life (QoL) scoring system.

The FIQ (Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire) [107]-[109], is a questionnaire of 10 questions that assess the physical, occupational, depression, anxiety, sleep, pain, stiffness, fatigue and well-being in patients with FM. The higher scores indicate a worse quality of life. The HAQ ("Health Assessment Questionnaire") [110], [111] is used for patients with various rheumatic diseases: disability is assessed by 8 categories of questions designed to verify if the patient has difficulty in dressing, arising, eating, walking, bathing, reaching objects, shaking objects and doing activities.

The FACIT-Fatigue Scale questionnaire (Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale) [112] is a collection of questions related to the quality of life aimed at chronic disease management. It consists of 13 questions that investigate the fatigue, the ability to perform everyday skills, the need for sleep, the need of help to perform daily activities, and how physical state affects the psychic state.

The health status questionnaire SF-36 [113] is a generic, multi-dimensional questionnaire articulated through 36 questions assembled in 8 different scales. The 36 questions relate conceptually to 8 health domains: PF-physical functioning (10 questions), RP physical role (4 questions), ER emotional role (3 questions), BP bodily pain (2 questions), GH general health (5 questions), VT vitality (4 questions), SF social functioning (2 questions) and MH mental health (5 questions). The higher scores are related to better health. Trained psychiatrists have evaluated the patients using the Structured Clinical Interview Scale (SCID) for DSM-IV [114], [115]. For the entire period of the study, the patients were recommended not to modify their pharmacological treatment, while the use of other drugs were not permitted. If serious adverse events occurred, the patients was excluded from the study.

36
#### **Table 3.** Tests of clinical evaluation used to classify each patient

## Specific tests for evaluating FM

- Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ)
- finger pressure of tender points
- Visual analogue scale (VAS) for minor symptoms in FM (e.g., fatigue, sleep disorders, migraine, stiffness in the morning, gastro-intestinal symptoms).
- Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue (FACIT fatigue) Scale (version 4)

## Evaluation of other parameters

- > Health Assessment questionnaire (HAQ) to determine the physical disability
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index questionnaire (PSQI) to determine quality and sleep disorders.
- SF-36 questionnaire (Short Form with 36 questions), a well-documented, selfadministered quality of life (QoL) scoring system.

## Assessment of Psychiatric aspects

- Structured Clinical Interview (SCID) for DSM-IV
- Experiences in Close Relationships (ECR)
- Jealousy questionnaire (QUEGE)

The study protocol has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the "Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Pisana".

## Whole saliva samples: collection and preparation

Unstimulated whole saliva (WS) samples were collected early in the morning (between 8 and 10 a.m) in standard conditions, i.e. all the subjects were asked to be on an empty stomach, without having assumed any drinks or any kind of food (including gum or candies) since the night before. In order to minimize the degradation of the proteins, the samples were processed immediately and kept on ice during the process. Between 1-3 ml saliva was obtained from each subject. To remove the debris and the cells, a centrifugation at 14000 g for 30 min at 4 °C, was performed and the protein amount of resulting supernatants was estimated using a DC protein assay from Bio-Rad. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was used as a standard. WS samples from individual patients (corresponding to 200µg) were solubilized with rehydration solution (7M Urea, 2M

thiourea, 4% CHAPS, 60 mM DTT, 0.002% bromophenol blue) filled up to 400µl and supplemented with 1.2% IPG Buffer pH3-10.

#### **Blood samples preparation**

Whole venous blood samples (30 ml) were drawn from overnight fasting subjects between 8:00 and 9:00 am at the division of Rheumatology, University of Pisa. The amounts of blood (5ml) were collected into serum tubes, and centrifuged at 200 x g for 15 minutes at 20-25°C for BDNF serum determination. The remainders were collected in vacutainers containing EDTA (1 mg/ml) as anticoagulant and processed as follows:

- a) 10 ml was transferred to centrifuge tubes containing aprotinin (Sigma, Milan, Italy) (0.6 TIU/ml of blood) protease inhibitor then centrifuged at 1,500 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the resulting plasma was collected and kept at -80 °C until the oxytocin assay.
- b) 10 ml was centrifuged at 200 x g for 10 minutes at 20-25°C (RT) obtaining platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and platelets were counted automatically with a flux cytometer (Cell-dyn 3500 system; Abbott, Milano, Italy). For [<sup>3</sup>H]paroxetine binding, platelets were precipitated by centrifugation at 10000 x g for 10 minutes at 4 °C whereas for ATP assay, aliquots of PRP were centrifuged at 200 x g for 20 minutes at room temperature:
- c) 5ml was centrifuged at 1,500 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the resulting plasma was collected and kept at -80 °C until the BDNF plasma assay.

#### Platelet membrane preparation.

At the time of the assay, the platelets were re-suspended in 10 volumes (*w*:*v*) ice-cold 5 mMTris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM EDTA and protease inhibitors (benzamidine 160µg/ml, bacitracine 200µg/ml; trypsine soy inhibitor 20µg/ml). After the homogenization by Ultraturrax, the samples were centrifuged at 48,000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellets were washed twice in 10 volumes (*w*:*v*) ice-cold 50 mMTris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4) and the resulting membrane pellets were suspended in the  $[^{3}H]$ paroxetine binding assay buffer (50 mMTris-HCl buffer pH 7.4, 120 mMNaCl and 5 mMKCl). The protein content was determined by the Bradford's method (Bio-rad), using  $\gamma$ -globulins as the standard.

# [<sup>3</sup>H]-Paroxetine binding assay

The SERT binding parameters (maximal binding capacity,  $B_{max}$ , fmol/mg protein; dissociation constant,  $K_d$ , nM) were evaluated in platelet membranes by measuring the specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-paroxetine. The [3H]-paroxetine Bmax represents the specific density (number) or the degree of SERT protein expression on platelet membranes of each enrolled subject, while KD being the main index of ligand-to-protein affinity [116]. Saturation experiments were carried out as follows: 100 µl of membranes (50– 100 µg proteins/tube) were incubated in assay buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM KCl, 120 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) with five increasing concentrations of [<sup>3</sup>H]-paroxetine, (0.08 -1.5 nM) in a final volume of 2 ml. Non-specific binding was performed, for each [3H]paroxetine concentration point, in the presence of 10 µM fluoxetine, as displacer. Incubation was performed for 60 min at 22-24°C and halted by rapid filtration using Wathman GF/C glass fiber filters in a Brandell filtration apparatus. The filters were washed three times with 5 ml ice-cold buffer assay and radioactivity was counted with a scintillation  $\beta$ -counter Packard 1600 TR. Specific binding was obtained by subtracting residual binding in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M fluoxetine from total binding. The experiments was performed in duplicate.

## **Oxytocin Determination**

Aliquots of plasma (6 ml) were immediately acidified with 6 ml of HCl 0.1 N and centrifuged at 48,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. C-18 Sep-pack columns (Waters) were equilibrated by washing with 10 ml of methanol followed by 20 ml of water. Acidified plasma solutions were loaded into the equilibrated C-18 Sep-pack columns. Then the columns were washed slowly with 10 ml of 4% acetic acid followed by 2 ml of methanol and the washing liquids were discarded. Oxytocin was then eluted with methanol, the eluates were evaporated in a centrifugal concentrator under vacuum (Speedvac) and the remaining lyophilized samples were stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

Quantitative determination of Oxytocin in samples was measured by using a competitive Oxytocin Enzime Immunoassay kit (EIA kit, Enzo Life Sciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The optical density was read at 405 nm with a microplate reader (Victor Wallac, Perkin Elmer). The Lower Limit of Detection of these assays was less than 12 pg/ml.

#### Plasma and serum BDNF determination

The BDNF was measured in plasma and serum samples with commercial enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega, Emax <sup>®</sup> ImmunoAssay System, Wallisellen, Switzerland). To measure the amount of total BDNF, plasma acidification and subsequent neutralization of the samples were followed before proceeding with the ELISA protocol, according to instruction. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm. The minimum of detection was of 15.6pg/ml of BDNF.

#### Intracellular adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) determination

The ATP was released from platelet suspension using an Adenosine 5'-Triphosphate Bioluminescent Somatic Cell Assay Kit which follows the luciferin–luciferase reaction (Sigma-Aldrich St. Louis, MO). In the Eppendorf tubes, aliquots of platelet suspension (100 cells/50  $\mu$ L) were incubated with 100  $\mu$ L somatic cell ATP releasing reagent, 50  $\mu$ L of sterile distilled water or 50  $\mu$ L (200 ng) ATP standard solution (ATPstd). For luminescence analysis, a volume (100  $\mu$ L) of these solutions was transferred into a 96 multi-well plate (OptiPlate<sup>TM</sup>, Perkin-Elmer). After the addition of 100  $\mu$ L of ATP assay mix, containing luciferin and luciferase, the luminescence light emission was directly measured by a Wallac 1420 Multilabel Counter (Perkin-Elmer, Inc.,CA) using a software-programmed for luminometry.

The sample platelet ATP amount (ATPs) was calculated by the equation:

 $ATPs = (ATP_{std}) \times (L_s)/L_{(s+std)} - L_{(s)}$ 

where  $ATP_{std}$  was the ATP known concentration (in moles), added as internal standard, (I.S).;  $L_{(s)}$  was the light emitted by "blank" sample without I.S., and  $L_{(s+std)}$  was the light emitted by sample containing I.S.

#### **2-D** analysis

In a first phase, twenty randomly selected samples were pooled according to thermal treatment (balneotherapy or mud-bath therapy) into three groups corresponding to the three times of sample collection and 2-D analysis was performed in triplicate. Isoelectrofocusing (IEF) was carried out by using 18 cm Immobiline Dry-Strips (GE Healthcare) with a linear, pH 3–10, gradient. 200 µg of proteins were filled to 400 µl with rehydration buffer supplemented with 1,2% (v/v) IPG Buffer, pH 3-10 (GE Healthcare). IEF was performed at 16 °C on an EttanIPGphor II apparatus (GE Health Care) according to the following schedule: the samples were applied by in-gel rehydration for 24 h using the Reswelling Tray for the passive rehydration, then the Immobiline Dry-Strips were transferred onto Manifold and were applied a constant voltage at 200V for 2:30h and then at 300V for 1h. At this point the voltage was linearly increased from 300 to 5000 for 3h, and then the proteins were focused for up to 75 000Vh at a maximum voltage of 8000 V for 8:30h. To prepare the IPG strips for the second dimension, the strips were first equilibrated 15 min at room temperature in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 6 M Urea, 30% glycerol, 2% SDS, 0.002% bromophenol blue, 1% DTT, followed by a second equilibration for 10 min in the same buffer except that DTT was replaced by 2.5% IAA. Subsequently, the IPG strips were applied horizontally on top of 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gels (21x18x0.15cm) and electrophoresis was performed using the PROTEAN Plus Dodeca Cell system (Bio-Rad) with constant amperage at 96mA until the dye front reached the bottom of the gel (about 1h) and then at 192mA over-night (about 14h) at 15°C.

#### Staining and image analysis

The gels were stained with Ruthenium II tris (bathophenanthrolinedisulfonate) tetrasodium salt (SunaTech Inc.). Briefly, after electrophoresis, the gels were fixed in 1% phosphoric acid (v/v) and 30% ethanol for 1h at room temperature and then were first stained overnight with 1 mM ruthenium complex (RuBP) in 1% phosphoric acid and 30% ethanol. Afterwards, the gels were destained for 4–6 hours in 1% phosphoric acid and 30% ethanol and rinsed in water prior to acquisition on fluorescence [102] by "ImageQuant LAS4010" (GE-Healthcare). The images were analyzed with the ProgenesisSameSpot (Nonlinear Dynamics) software. This software generates 2DE analyses which are robust and accurate. The gels were aligned to place all spots in exactly the same location, and then spot detection produced a complete data set since all gels contain the same number of spots, each matched to its corresponding spot on all gels. A comparison between three classes was performed. The software included statistical analysis calculations such as Anova p-value and False Discovery Rate (qvalues). The gels were compared and protein spots with a >2-fold spot quantity change, P < 0.05 and q value < 0.05 (herein referred to as "differentially expressed proteins") were selected, were excised from the gel and were sent to Proteomic Core in Geneva (Switzerland) to identify the proteins using nanoLC-ESI-MS/MS.

## Enzyme linked-Immunosorbent Assay of Transaldolase, Phosphoglicerate Mutase1 and Alpha-2-Glycoprotein1 Zinc Binding proteins

The concentration of Transaldolase (TALDO1), Phosphoglicerate Mutase1 (PGAM1) and Alpha-2-Glycoprotein1, Zinc Binding (aZGP1) was determined in all WS samples of individual patients (40 patients) at each time of collection (T0, T1, T2) using a commercial ELISA kit (USCN Life Science Inc., Wuhan, China) according to the

manufacturer's instruction. The limit of detection of each kit was 0.056ng/mL, 1.5ng/mL and 0.57ng/mL for TALDO1, aZGP1 and PGAM1, respectively. Amounts of 100 µl of no diluted WS samples were assayed except for PGAM1 where we operated a 1:2 dilution in phosphate buffer saline PBS 20mM pH 7.15, of WS samples. Absorbance values were measured spectrophotometrically at a wavelength of 450nm by Wallac Victor 2, 1420 label (Perkin Elmer).

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Clinical data were represented as median (minimum and maximum). The data were evaluated using non-parametric statistical methods. Friedman's test for repeated measures with post hoc test for multiple comparison was used to compare the baseline values and the other time points values in each treatment. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the independent groups. Pearson's chi-squared test was used to compare the frequency of specific symptoms. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Anova test has been used to explore quantitative differences in the protein expression between T0, T1 and T2 whole saliva samples. The significance of the differences was expressed by p-value <0.05.

The concentration of specific proteins in the samples by ELISA kits was determined by comparing the O.D. of the samples to the standard curve. The significance of the differences (p-value < 0.05) was calculated by Student *t* test for paired data.

# RESULTS

## **Clinical assessment**

The demographic characteristics and the treatment regimes of the patients enrolling in the study are shown in Table 4.

**Table 4.** Demographic and baseline characteristics of 41 FM patients.

	Balneotherapy group	Mud bath group
	(N=20)	(N=21)
Sex	1 <b>M</b> , 19F	1M, 20F*
Age (years) (mean±SD)	54.00±7.22 (42-68)	52.81±10.26 (31-69)
Height (cm) (mean±SD)	161.66±5.78 (150-176 cm)	162.30±5.37 (155-174 cm)
Weight (kg) ) (mean±SD)	69.84± 15.53 (51-107 kg)	69.55±12.60 (55-100 kg)
Duration of symptoms (years)	11 40 19 24	11 65 7 95
(mean±SD)	11.40±8.24	11.03±7.85
Married	16	13
Divorced	0	3
Widow	2	1
Unmarried	2	4
Occupational status	12 working, 5 housewife, 3	13 working, 6 housewife,
	retired	2 retired
Hormonal status	25 post menopausal	11 post menopausal
Smoker	7	3

\*1 of these patients left the study after T1 because of a diagnosis of breast cancer.

Analyzing data all together (balneotherapy plus mud-bath therapy treatment) we showed significant improvement of FIQ (p<0.05) and VAS pain (p<0.01) after two weeks of treatment and the data are reported in Table 5.

	T0(baseline)	T1 (2 weeks)	T2 (12 weeks)	Friedman	р
VAS					
Pain	8 (3-10)*	6 (0-10)*	7 (1-10)	13.020	P<0.01
Fatigue	8 (0-10)	7 (0-10)	8 (0-10)	3.417	NS
Anxiety	6 (1-9)	5 (0-10)	5.2 (1-10)	5.285	NS
Depression	5 (0-9)	4 (0-9)	3 (1-10)	3.872	NS
FIQ	53.2 (18.1-98.0)*	54.10 (4.4-93.2)*	58.4 (6.6-93.7)	5.902	P<0.05
TPi	18 (4-18)	18 (2.9-18)	18 (2-18)	0.568	NS
SF-36 subitems					
PF-physical functionin	ng 55 (5-85)	55 (15-95)	55 (15-90)	4.950	NS
RP physical role	0 (0-100)	0 (0-100)	0 (0-100)	9.812	NS
BP bodily pain	30 (0-72)	32 (0-61)	32 (0-100)	3.333	NS
GH general health	35 (10-86)	37 (0-92)	35 (0-82)	3.315	NS
VT vitality	40 (0-85)	35 (0-90)	35 (0-90)	0.727	NS
SF social functioning	50 (0-100)	50 (0-100)	50 (0-100)	1.141	NS
ER emotional role	0 (0-100)	33 (0-100)	33 (0-100)	3.282	NS
MH mental health	60 (4-100)	60 (4-100)	56 (0-92)	3.081	NS
FACIT	25 (4-51)	23 (0-48)	24.5 (0-45)	4.637	NS
HAQ	0.7 (0-2)	0.7 (0-4)	0.7 (0-2)	0.797	NS

**Table 5.** Results of outcome measures of patients analyzed all together(balneotherapy+mud-bath therapy) (median, min-max).

TPi = Tender Points count

The clinical characteristics of patients allocated to mud-bath therapy or balneotherapy are shown in Table 6 and Table 7, respectively. No statistically-significant difference of demographic or clinical characteristics between the two groups of patients, assigned to balneotherapy or to mud-bath therapy, was observed at the beginning of the study.

The patients who received only mud-bath therapy (Tab. 6) showed a significant improvement of the VAS pain (T0: 8 (3-10)vs T2: 6 (1-9) p<0.05), FIQ values (T0: 70 (18.1-81.8) vs T2: 58.4 (12.4-87.4), p<0.05) and of the domain "physical role" of the SF-36 questionnaire (0 (0-75) vs 0 (0-100) vs 25 (0-100), p<0.05) after 12 week thermal program. VAS fatigue slightly decreased from T0 to T1 and to T2. The SF-36 domains "bodily pain", "emotional role", "social functioning" and "physical role" tended to increase from T0 to T1 to T2, suggesting an improvement following the mud-bath treatment. FACIT and HAQ did not change during the three times T0, T1, T2.

In this group of patients it has been observed a significant reduced percentage of the frequency of tingling (T0: 76%, T1: 43%, T2: 33%, T0 vs T1, P<0.05; T0 vs T2, P<0.01).

The personal comments of patients treated with mud-bath were: 58% of patients reported improvement in symptoms at both T1 and T2, 16% patients only at T1, 5% patients only at T2, 21% of patients did not reported effects. In particular, this group of patients reported improvement in pain, asthenia, muscle stiffness and sleep, feeling more smoothly even if the present pain, pain relief in some parts of the body with persistence in others.

	T0(baseline)	T1 (2 weeks)	T2 (12 weeks)	Friedman	р
VAS					
Pain	8 (3-10)*	7 (1-9)	6 (1-9)*	8.708	P<0.05
Fatigue	9 (2-10)	8 (1-10)	8 (3-10)	2.696	NS
Anxiety	6 (1-9)	5 (0-10)	5.2 (1-10)	0.394	NS
Depression	5 (0-9)	4 (0-9)	3 (1-10)	0.184	NS
FIQ	70 (18.1-81.8)*	59.4 (9.6-78.3)	58.4 (12.4-87.4)*	* 7.238	P<0.05
TP	18 (4-18)	16 (4-18)	16 (2-18)	5.920	NS
SF-36 subitems					
PF-physical functioning	55 (5-85)	50 (15-80)	55 (15-90)	5.787	NS
RP physical role	0 (0-75)*	0 (0-100)	25 (0-100)*	11.31	p<0.05
BP bodily pain	22 (10-51)	30 (10-61)	32 (22-84)	4.964	NS
GH general health	35 (20-86)	40 (0-92)	35 (20-82)	0.591	NS
VT vitality	40 (15-85)	35 (5-85)	35 (1-80)	1.333	NS
SF social functioning	50 (25-100)	50 (0-100)	50 (12-100)	0.268	NS
ER emotional role	33 (0-100)	33 (0-100)	33 (0-100)	2.000	NS
MH mental health	64 (24-100)	60 (24-100)	60 (16-84)	1.684	NS
FACIT	25 (10-37)	22 (2-48)	23 (6-38)	1.675	NS
HAQ	0.7 (0.1-2.0)	0.8 (0.1-4.0)	0.6 (0.1-1.7)	2.658	NS

**Table 6.** Results of outcome measures of patients assigned to mud-bath therapy (median, min-max).

TPi = Tender Points count

The group of patients allocated to balneotherapy (Tab. 7) showed a significant improvement of VAS pain which decrease from T0 to T1 (8 (3-10) vs 7 (1-9) (p<0.05). They showed a slight improvement of the following clinical parameters: VAS fatigue, FIQ values, VAS anxiety and VAS depression which slightly decrease from T0 to T1 and then return to values close to the initial value at T2. Tender points count did not change from T0-T1-T2. The SF36 domains tend to increase from T0 to T1 and then return to values close to the initial value at T2 (except for the domain emotional role

that tend to increase also at T2). Also FACIT tend to decrease from T0 to T1. HAQ values remained unchanged in the three times of observations.

In this group of patients the frequency of characteristic symptoms remain unchanged after thermal treatment. The personal comments of patients are: 21% of patients reported improvement in symptoms at both T1 and T2, 21% patients only at T1, 21% patients only at T2, 37% of patients did not reported any effects. In particular, patients reported improvement in pain and sleep, feeling more smoothly despite the presence of pain (when persisted) and a reduction of cramping and headaches. The percentage of specific symptoms of the disease did not change at the three times in the group of patients treated with balneotherapy.

Psychiatric evaluations revealed 7 patients assigned to mud-bath therapy were suffering from psychiatric comorbidity (35%) of which 1 with current disease (panic) and 6 with lifetime disease (3 panic, 3 depression). In the group of patients assigned to balneotherapy 9 patients were suffering from psychiatric comorbidity (45%) of which 2 with current disease (1 panic and 1 depression) and 7 with lifetime disease (4 panic, 2 depression, 1 obsessive compulsive disorder).

Balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy were well tolerated in all patients. Only one patients, belonging to mud-bath group, left the study after the weeks treatment because the onset of breast cancer.

49

	T0(baseline)	T1 (2 weeks)	T2 (12 weeks)	Friedman	р
VAS					
Pain	7.5 (3-10)*	5.0 (0-10)*	7.5 (1-10)	8.394	P<0.05
Fatigue	8 (0-10)	7.0 (0-10)	8 (0-10)	1.069	NS
Anxiety	8 (1-10)	5 (0-10)	7 (0-10)	7.298	NS
Depression	6.5 (0-10)	5 (0-10)	6 (0-10)	5.938	NS
FIQ	61.8 (31.7-98.0)	47.3 (4.4-93.2)	61.2 (6.6-93.7)	3.900	NS
TPi	17.5 (8-18)	18 (10-18)	18 (8-18)	2.178	NS
SF-36 subitems					
PF-physical functioning	62.5 (25-85)	60 (25-95)	58 (15-90)	1.909	NS
RP physical role	0 (0-100)	0 (0-100)	0 (0-37.5)	0.889	NS
BP bodily pain	32 (0-72 )	41 (0-61)	30.5 (0-100)	5.265	NS
GH general health	33.5 (10-76)	37 (15-72)	30.5 (0-67)	5.083	NS
VT vitality	37.5 (0-80)	35 (0-90)	35.5 (0-90)	0.113	NS
SF social functioning	50 (0-100)	56 (0-75)	50 (0-100)	1.279	NS
ER emotional role	0 (0-100)	33 (0-100)	36.5 (0-100)	0.571	NS
MH mental health	52 (4-92)	58 (4-96)	52 (0-92)	4.111	NS
FACIT	24.5 (4-51)	23 (0-43)	25 (0-45)	3.143	NS
HAQ	0.5 (0-1.5)	0.6 (0-1.5)	0.7 (0-2.1)	5.000	NS

**Table 7.** Results of outcome measures of patients assigned to balneotherapy (median, min-max).

TPi = Tender Points count

# Determination of biochemical parameters: evaluation of oxytocin, BDNF, ATP and serotonin transporter levels during therapy

Tables 8a and 8b resume results of biochemical parameters in relation with treatment and response on time. Biochemical evaluations of patients assigned to mud-bath therapy are reported in table 8a, those relating to the balneotherapy are in the table 8b. Nonetheless the high variability of biochemical parameters as showed from high values of SD, however a significant decrease of neuropeptide concentrations were observed both after balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy when assayed after twelve weeks. As far as SERT is concerned a small decrease of affinity of about two fold of specific radioligand was observed at T2 with respect T0 time.

**Table 8a.** Results of biochemical evaluations of patients assigned to mud-bath therapy (mean  $\pm$  sd).

	MU	D-BATH THERAP	Y
	TO	<b>T1</b>	<b>T2</b>
Oxytocin (pg/ml)	17.56± 5.9	$17.7\pm6.9$	14.99±4.8
BDNF s (pg/ml)	9838±2261	9087±2634	8524±2492**
SERT B <sub>max</sub> (fmol/mg)	$1122 \pm 443$	$1201\pm371$	$1165\pm473$
SERT, $K_d(nM)$	$0.048 \pm 0.044$	$0.05\pm0.05$	$0.08{\pm}~0.06$
ATP (fmol/plt)	$0.025 \pm 0.008$	$0.021 \pm 0.006$	$0.024{\pm}0.006$

Significant differences observed between T2 vs T0 are based on Wilcoxon non parametric matched pairs test (\*p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01)

	BA	LNEOTHERAPY	
	TO	<b>T1</b>	T2
Oxytocin (pg/ml)	$14.2\pm7.25$	$15.28\pm8.4$	16.5±8.19
BDNF s (pg/ml)	10450±1493	10260±1739	9362±1849*
SERT B <sub>max</sub> (fmol/mg)	912 ± 334	1011±466	$913 \pm 471$
SERT, $K_d(nM)$	$0.035 \pm 0.008$	$0.06 \pm 0.07$	$0.08{\pm}~0.07$
ATP (fmol/plt)	$0.021\pm0.008$	0.026±0.009	$0.02 \pm 0.006$

**Table 8b.** Results of biochemical evaluations of patients assigned to balneotherapy (mean  $\pm$  sd).

Significant differences observed between T2 vs T0 are based on Wilcoxon non parametric matched pairs test (\*p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01)

# Identification of proteins (responsive) to balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy treatment.

A comparative proteomic analysis was performed on WS samples using 2-DE followed by nanoLC-ESI-MS/MS analysis. The computational analysis of 2DE gel images of pools from balneotherapy and mud-bath theraphy before and after treatment showed a significant difference of expression of four spots. Figure 1A shows a representative 2DE WS image where the spots of interest are circled. Moreover, in Figure 1B are represented the enlarged images of these spots for balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy pools at three time (T0, T1, T2).

1A)





**Figure 1. A)** Representative 2-DE gel map of salivary proteins in FM patient. A total of 200 µg proteins were separated by 2-DE using 18 cm pH 3–10L strip and 12.5% SDS-PAGE. Proteins were detected by Ruthenium staining. The map was analyzed by the ProgenesisSameSpot (Nonlinear Dynamics) software. **B**) The enlarged images represented the protein spot differentially expressed in Balneotherapy and Mud-bath therapy for three time of treatment (T0,T1 and T2). Spot numbers indicate all the proteins differentially expressed identified by nanoLC-ESI-MS/MS and refer to the number reported in Table 8.

The differentially expressed protein spots were subjected to nano LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis and identified. A list of identified proteins, Molecular Weight, Isoelectric point, score and coverage values of MS/MS, are shown in Table 9a. Among proteins responsive to treatment, PGAM1, TALDO1 and RabGDP were previously described by

us as potential biomarkers of FM [17], [20] and zinc alpha 2 glycoprotein resulted the most responsive to treatment. Instead, in Table 9b are reported the fold variation of each protein spot

**Table 9a.** MS/MS data of protein spots differentially expressed in whole saliva of FM patients following thermal treatments.

<b>,</b> #	ID. No Protein Name		No Protein Name Gene MV		MW pI		Mat.	Cov.	B. I.	
Spot			name	ob.	th.	ob.	th.	pep.	(%)	Ī.
469	P50395	Rab GDP dissociation inhibitor beta	GDI2	56	51	6.0	6.1	8	19	70
576	P25311	Zinc-alpha-2-	AZGP1	48	34	5.6	5.7	2	12	65
706	P37837	Transaldolase	TALDO1	41	37	6	6.3	7	22	76
2268	P18669	Phosphoglycerate Mutase 1	PGAM1	34	29	6.7	6.6	2	5	46

ID No =Accession Number; MW = Molecular Weight; pI = Isoelectric point; ob = observed; th= theorical; Mat. Pep. = Matched peptides; Cov. = Coverage; B.I.S. =Best Ion Score

# Spot	Balneotherapy		Balneotherapy Mud-b		d-bath ther	apy	
" Spot	T1/T0	T2/T1	T2/T0	T1/T0	T2/T1	T2/T0	
469	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.4	1.4	1.3	
576	1.2	1.4	1.2	1.2	2.4	1.8	
706	1.2	1.2	1.4	1.2	1.5	1.4	
2268	1.3	1.3	1	1.2	1.1	1.4	

Table 9b. Fold Variation expressed as ratio

# Validation of Transaldolase (TALDO1), Phosphoglicerate Mutase1 (PGAM1) and Alpha-2-Glycoprotein1, Zinc Binding (aZGP1) by ELISA Kit analysis

ELISA Kit analysis was used to validate the difference in expression of proteins of interest of Transaldolase (TALDO1), Phosphoglicerate Mutase1 (PGAM1) and Alpha 2-Glycoprotein1, Zinc Binding (aZGP1) in WS samples of individual patients distinguished for type and time of treatment; the concentration of the specific protein was determined using a standard calibration curve. The results are showed in Table 10.

**Table 10.** ELISA assays of Phosphoglicerate Mutase 1, Transaldolasi and Zinc-alpha2 glycoprotein in WS of FM patients.

Phosphoglicerate Mutase 1	BALNEOTHERAPY		RAPY	MUD-BATH THERAPY			
Time of treatment	TO	<b>T1</b>	T2	T0	<b>T</b> 1	T2	
Mean (OD)	27,74	19,42	24,52	35,98	33,68	17,72	
SEM	6,27	4,59	6,25	6,92	7,88	4,35	
Time Ratio	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2	
Paired t test (p values)	0,10	0,39	1,00	0,13	0,24	0,05*	
Transaldolase	BAL	NEOTHE	RAPY	PY MUD-BATH TH		ERAPY	
Time of treatment	T0	<b>T1</b>	T2	T0	<b>T1</b>	T2	
Mean (OD)	0,06	0,17	0,09	0,22	0,25	0,36	
SEM	0,03	0,07	0,03	0,08	0,05	0,15	
Time Ratio	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2	
Paired t test (p values)	0,08	0,09	0,70	0,73	0,46	0,26	

Zinc-alpha-2 glycoprotein	BALNEOTHERAPY			MUD-B	ERAPY	
Time of treatment	T0	<b>T1</b>	T2	T0	<b>T1</b>	T2
Mean (OD)	20,85	22,84	18,84	22,19	17,52	14,49
SEM	9,05	8,79	7,88	5,72	4,65	5,04
Time Ratio	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2	T0/T1	T1/T2	T0/T2
Paired t test (p values)	0,47	0,07	0,13	0,69	0,03*	0,01**

The figure 2 shows the histogram of the means±SEM of the concentrations of the proteins of interest in WS of FM patients between the three time of collection.



**Figure 2.** Each bar represents the mean $\pm$ SEM of the mean of each protein concentrations in WS of FM patients at each time (T0,T1,T2). Significant differences are based on t test; (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001).

# **DISCUSSION**

FM is a chronic non-inflammatory musculoskeletal disorder, characterized by a generalized pain condition often accompanied by a wide range of other unspecific symptoms, such as fatigue, sleep disturbance, headache, mood disorders, anxiety, depression, cognitive dysfunction, sexual dysfunction and autonomic complaints like irritable bowel syndrome. FM is more common amongst women than men and affects between 2% and 4% of the general population. In 1990 the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) established criteria for classification of FM [1], and more recently Wolfe and colleagues [41] have proposed new diagnostic criteria. The establishment of these guidelines for diagnosis has permitted the performance of research studies by investigators in many countries contributing to the understanding of the mechanisms that underlie in FM [14]. A plethora of objective markers has been shown to be abnormal in FM, and some of these may even have characteristics of a biomarker because they are not only abnormal in patients versus controls, but also change in response to changes in symptoms, but at present no specific markers have been found [13]. The problem lies in the presence of too many data, often controversial, rather than in a lack of data [17]. The mechanisms underlying the FM are still unclear and largely unknown, and as a direct consequence, the diagnosis is very difficult. The difficulty is that laboratory tests are normal and many of the symptoms mimic those of other conditions including many rheumatic complaints, psychiatric conditions and other somatic disorders. It is therefore important to exclude rheumatic disorders before proceeding to a diagnosis of FM. Then, to make a diagnosis of FM, the patient, in addition to reporting a widespread pain for at least 3 months and a painful response due to digital pressure of 11 of the 18 tender points, must be subjected to the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) (Table 1) that gives a good idea of the full range of symptoms that are regularly found in FM. Therefore, the diagnosis of FM is basically

clinical [13] and the lack of easily accessible laboratory measures makes difficult to collect under the term of FM, patients presenting with homogeneous features and prognosis [39], [40]. At present, although proteomic studies have shown alterations in the expression of certain proteins in the saliva of FM patients compared to controls [20], there are no specific markers of FM. Several studies have identified alterations in the serum or plasma concentration of some neuromodulators/neurotransmitters, such as Oxytocin [22], BDNF [26]-[30], SERT [19] and ATP [34], [35] in patients with FM than in healthy subjects. The complexity of the disease means that there isn't a therapeutic treatment standards. The treatment of FM symptoms requires a multimodal approach that has to consider somatic aspects (i.e., pain onset, location, quality, quantity, duration), emotional aspects (i.e., mood and anxiety), cognitive aspects (i.e., coping styles, beliefs about pain), and environmental aspects (i.e., social context and patient relationships). From the pharmacological point of view, categories of drugs most commonly used are: analgesics, antidepressants, muscle relaxants and anti-epileptics. The current recommendations suggest that the optimal treatment of FM requires a multidisciplinary approach with a combination of non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatment modalities tailored according to pain intensity, function, associated features, such as depression, fatigue and sleep disturbances, decided through discussion with the patient, so the main strategy is symptom management [59]-[62]. Among non-pharmacological interventions the most used are physical therapy, psychotherapy, acupuncture, massage, and balneotherapy [63]-[66]. In the context of complementary medicine, the spa therapy, which includes hydrotherapy, balneotherapy, physiotherapy, mud-pack therapy and exercise [67]-[69], is known to be one of the most recognized therapeutic strategies for the treatment of rheumatic (as well as dermatological) disorder to pain alleviation [70]. The efficacy of this treatment for these indications underscores the applicability of spa therapy for the treatment of FM [71] but despite the long history and popularity, there are not many randomized controlled trials that demonstrate their effect on FM patients [71], and only a few were paralleled by a biological evaluation. Therefore, the aim of this work was to understand the impact that two different types of thermal treatment (balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy) have on patients with FM, through the application of a multiple approach: the classical evaluation of clinical type of patients (before, after and three months after treatment), it has also made an assessment of biochemical and proteomic type.

Overall, our results indicate that both spa treatment are beneficial in patients affected by FM. In general the percentage of patients who self-reported positive effects of spa therapy was higher in the group treated with mud-bath than those treated with balneotherapy. In particular an improvement of FIQ and a decrease of pain were evidenced. The comparison of two different spa treatments showed that both mud-bath and balneotherapy were able to relieve the pain although with different effect span. In fact, mud-bath therapy showed significant improvement of the pain, the FIQ and the domain "physical role" which persist up to 12 weeks. Instead balneotherapy, showed a significant reduction of the pain immediately after the two weeks of treatment, but at 12 weeks pain values returned near to initial values, similarly slight improvement of fatigue and quality of life occurred (Tab. 5, 6, 7).

Discordant results were reported in literature about the long lasting effects of balneotherapy [72], [77], [78], [79], [117]. Buskila et al. [77], evaluate the effectiveness of balneotherapy on patients with FM at the Dead Sea. All participants stayed for 10 days at a Dead Sea spa. The improvement was especially notable in the treatment group and it persisted even after 3 months. Neumann and colleagues [78] observed an improvement in physical aspects of QoL of FM patients treated with balneotherapy which lasted usually 3 months, but on psychological measures the improvements was shorter. Moreover, as observed by Evcik et al [79], the extension of balneotherapy time

treatment from one to three weeks led to positive effect which persisted even after 6 months not only for the FIQ, but also for the pain and the tender point count.

As mud-bath-therapy as concerned our results agree with those published by Fioravanti et al. [72] in a multicentric single blind randomized clinical trial study where the effects of a cycle of 12 mud-packs and thermal bath treatment over a period of 2 weeks was analyzed on 40 FM patients. The researchers recorded a significant improvement of FIQ, tender point count, VAS for minor symptoms and HAQ after thermal therapy and after 16 weeks.

In addition, FM patients enrolled in our study have been carefully characterized and evaluated by trained psychiatrists using the Structured Clinical Interview Scale (SCID) for DSM-IV, detecting the presence of psychiatric comorbidity (lifetime and current) in about 40% of FM patients. Published works are lacking of psychiatric evaluations and anyway, when present, they are carried out through self-assessment instrument like the Beck Depression Inventory Index, which evaluate only depression [22], [81].

The mechanisms by which spa therapies relieve symptoms are not fully understood, although they probably include thermal, mechanical, chemical and immunomodulatory effects. Moreover, thermal therapy brings about a decrease of stress sensation, relaxation and a sense of well-being which have been related to an increase of serum levels of pituitary hormones and endogenous opiates such as endorphins [70], [118], [119], [120]. In spite of this, there are different reports which discuss about the role of neuropeptides and neurotransmitters in the pathophysiological mechanisms responsible for the symptoms in the FM. Among these, the neuropeptide oxytocin and the neurotrophic factor BDNF have been studied in FM patients with a particular attention to their correlation with features such as anxiety and depression. Oxytocin is known to have anti-nociceptive and analgesic effects as well as anxiolytic and sedative effects, in addition an anti-depressive and an anti-stress effects have been documented.

Differences of serum oxytocin expression in FM patients has been reported by Anderberg et al. [22] which suggested that depressed FM patients have reduced level of neuropeptide with respect to non-depressed FM patients. No significant change of oxytocin concentration after balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy was observed in our patients. As BDNF is concerned, different roles have been hypothesized in FM and other chronic pain conditions suggesting a pivotal role of this neuromodulator in these conditions. Recent findings have suggested an involvement of BDNF as a neuromediator of hyperalgesia and spinal central sensitization. Increased BDNF serum levels were shown in FM patients with respect healthy subjects, but there are different and controversial reports which discuss about the role of BDNF in the pathophysiological mechanisms responsible for the symptoms in the FM, particularly anxiety and depression [29], [30], [26], [28]. Our results indicate that spa therapy reduced the BDNF serum concentration by about 10-15% only after 12 weeks from the treatment. We believe that further studies are needed to clarify if these neuropeptides could be indicators of the beneficial thermal effects. Additionally, among the neurotransmitters, it has recently been suggested that altered serotonergic neuronal function might be related to the pathophysiology of FM [121], [122]. In a previous study [19], it was reported a decrease in the density and rate of platelet SERT in patients with FM respect to healthy subjects and it was also proposed a specific role for SERT in the pathogenesis of FM. A reduced density and rate of SERT are consistent with previous observations indicating that levels of 5-HT are altered in patients with FM [19]. In this study comparable mean values of Kd and Bmax were found in FM patients, but no significant changes both in terms of affinity and of the total number of SERT were observed after thermal treatment. Finally, from the biochemical point of view, in this study no significant change of ATP concentrations was observed after both thermal treatments. All biochemical data are summarized in Table 8a and 8b.

Previously, our group performed a comparative proteomic analysis of FM WS, by combining 2DE and MALDI-TOF-MS [20]. The most relevant observation which emerged from the data analysis was the exclusive and significant over-expression of TALDO1 and PGAM1 in FM samples with respect to healthy subjects suggesting that this could be involved in limiting oxidative damage to tissues [20], [17]. Based upon all these observations, in this study we evaluated if the change of protein expressions can occur in response to thermal treatments. Using a combination of 2DE (Fig. 1A, 1B) and nano-LC-ESI/MS/MS spectrometry techniques (Tab. 9a, 9b) we compared FM WS protein profiles of a randomized pool of patients at different times from each treatment. Only four proteins showed appreciable change (ratio range from 1.1 to 2.4) of their expression values in response to treatment. The quantitative evaluation and the significance of these protein expression variations were determined by using the specific ELISA kit (Tab. 10; Fig.2). We observed a high variability of protein concentrations in both treatment groups and also in different times. Significant differences were observed only for PGAM1 and Zinc-alpha 2 glycoprotein (AZGP1). In fact, a reduction of the expression values toward normal values was found in WS of the patients treated with mud-bath therapy, particularly at 12<sup>th</sup> week suggesting an improvement of FM patients. A role of the adipokine AZGP1 in the activation of AMP kinase, an important regulator of energy metabolism, in human skeletal muscle cells has emerged [123]. The mechanism may be involved in mediating the effects of AZGP1 in relation to increased energy utilization. All in all we can see the protein up regulation as a response to an increase of the oxidative stress, responsive to mud bath treatment.

In conclusion, our results show that the thermal treatment might have a beneficial effect on the specific symptoms of the disease, in particular while balneotherapy gives results that in most patients occur after the end of the treatment, but which are no longer noticeable after 3 months, the mud-bath treatment gives more lasting results. Indeed, a combined treatment of balneotherapy plus mud-bath treatment is advisable for patients suffering from FM. On the other hand, respect to the biological effects, the mud-bath therapy appears to be the best treatment producing a statistical significant reduction of level both of neuropeptide, such as BDNF, and proteins, such as PGAM1 and AZGP1 which usually resulted up regulated in FM patients [17], [26], [28]. In our study other factors which could contribute to the clinical improvement after a spa treatment, such as the pleasant scenery and the absence of work duties [77], [117] were not considered. In fact, the patients (except two) did not stay in the spa, but they were resident in areas surrounding it, continued their work activities and the time that the patients spent in the spa center was limited to the treatment. In this way the observed improvement of symptoms was only dependent on the spa therapy itself.

# REFERENCES

- [1] Wolfe F, Smythe HA, Yunus MB, Bennett RM, Bombardier C, Goldenberg DL, Tugwell P, Campbell SM, Abeles M, Clark P, Fam AG, Farber SJ, Fiechtner JJ, Franklin M, Gatter RA, Hamaty D, Lessard J, Lichtbroun AS, Masi AT, Mccain GA, Reynolds WJ, Romano TJ, Russell J, Sheon RP. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 Criteria for the Classification of Fibromyalgia. Report of the Multicenter Criteria Committee. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1990; 33: 160-172.
- [2] Moldofsky H. The significance of the sleeping-waking brain for the understanding of widespread musculoskeletal pain and fatigue in fibromyalgia syndrome and allied syndromes. *Joint Bone Spine*. 2008; 75: 397-402.
- [3] Lesley M, Arnold LM. Management of fibromyalgia and comorbid psychiatric disorders. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2008; 69: 14–19.
- [4] Bennett RM, Jones J, Turk DC, Russell IJ, Matallana L. An internet survey of 2,596 people with fibromyalgia. BMC. *Musculoskele Disord*. 2007; 8: 27–38.
- [5] Goebel A, Buhner S, Schedel R, Lochs H, Sprotte G. Altered intestinal permeability in patients with primary fibromyalgia and in patients with complex regional pain syndrome. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2008; 47: 1223–1227.
- [6] Salaffi F, De Angelis R, Grassi W., on behalf of the MArche Pain Prevalence; INvestigation Group (MAPPING) study. Prevalence of musculoskeletal conditions in an Italian population sample: results of a regional communitybased study. I. The MAPPING study. *ClinExpRheumatol.* 2005; 23: 819-28.
- [7] Wolfe F, Ross K, Anderson J, Russel IJ and HEBERT L: The prevalence and characteristics of fibromyalgia in the general population. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1995; 1:19-28.
- [8] Branco JC, Bannwarth B, Failde I, Carbonell JA, Blotman F, Spaeth M, Saraiva F, Nacci F, Thomas E, Caubère JP, Le Lay K, Taieb C, and Matucci-Cerinic M.

Prevalence of Fibromyalgia: A Survey in Five European Countries. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* **2010** Jun;39(6):448-53

- [9] Eraso RM, Bradford NJ, Fontenot CN, Espinoza LR, Gedalia A. Fibromyalgia syndrome in young children: onset at age 10 years and younger. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 2007; 25: 639–644.
- [10] McLean SA, Clauw DJ. Biomedical models of fibromyalgia. *Disabil Rehabil*.2005; 27: 659–665.
- [11] Spaeth M. Epidemiology, costs, and the economic burden of fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2009;11(3): 117.
- [12] Dadabhoy D, Crofford LJ, Spaeth M, Russell IJ, Clauw DJ: Biology and therapy of fibromyalgia. Evidence-based biomarkers for fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2008;10(4): 211.
- [13] Bazzichi L, Rossi A, Giacomelli C, Bombardieri S. Exploring the abyss of fibromyalgia biomarkers. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2010 Nov-Dec;28(6 Suppl 63):S125-30.
- [14] Ablin JN, Buskila D, Clauw DJ. Biomarkers in fibromyalgia. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2009 Oct;13(5):343-9.
- [15]Clauw DJ and Crofford LJ. Chronic widespread pain and fibromyalgia: what we know, and what we need to know. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* 2003 Aug;17(4):685-701.
- [16] Buskila D. Developments in the scientific and clinical understanding of fibromyalgia. Review. Arthritis Res Ther. 2009;11(5):242.
- [17]Ciregia F, Giacomelli C, Giusti L, Lucacchini L and BazzichiL. Diagnosis of Fibromyalgia Syndrome: Potential Biomarkers and Proteomic Approach. New Insights into Fibromyalgia, Dr. William S. Wilke (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-307-407-8, InTech.

- [18] Ablin JN and Buskila D. Fibromyalgia syndrome Novel therapeutic targets. Review. *Maturitas*. 2013 Aug;75(4):335-40.
- [19] Bazzichi L, Giannaccini G, Betti L, Mascia G, Fabbrini L, Italiani P, De Feo F, Giuliano T, Giacomelli C, Rossi A, Lucacchini A and Bombardieri S. Alteration of serotonin transporter density and activity in fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Research & Therapy.* 2006; 8(4):R99.
- [20] Bazzichi L, Ciregia F, Giusti L, Baldini C, Giannaccini G, Giacomelli C, Sernissi F, Bombardieri S and Lucacchini A. Detection of potential markers of primary fibromyalgia syndrome in human saliva. *Proteomics Clin. Appl.* 2009, 3, 1296–1304.
- [21]Louvel D, Delvaux M, Felez A, Fioramonti J, Bueno L, Lazorthes Y, Frexinos J. Oxytocin increases thresholds of colonic visceral perception in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut.* **1996** Nov;39(5):741-7.
- [22] Anderberg UM, Uvna"s-Moberg K. Plasma oxytocin levels in female fibromyalgia syndrome patients. Z Rheumatol. 2000 Dec;59(6):373-9.
- [23] Malcangio M and Lessmann V. A common thread for pain and memory synapses? Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and trkB receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2003 Mar;24(3):116-21.
- [24] Mattson MP, Maudsley S, and Martin B. BDNF and 5-HT: a dynamic duo in age-related neuronal plasticity and neurodegenerative disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* 2004 Oct;27(10):589-94.
- [25]LaFrance WC Jr, Leaver K, Stopa EG, Papandonatos GD, Blum AS. Decreased serum BDNF levels in patients with epileptic and psychogenic nonepileptic seizures. *Neurology*. 2010 Oct 5;75(14):1285-91.
- [26] Laske C, Stransky E, Eschweiler GW, Klein R, Wittorf A, Leyhe T, Richartz E, Köhler N, Bartels M, Buchkremer G, Schott K. Increased BDNF serum

concentration in fibromyalgia with or without depression or antidepressants. *J Psychiatr Res.* **2007** Oct;41(7):600-5.

- [27] Sarchielli P, Mancini ML, Floridi A, Coppola F, Rossi C, Nardi K, Acciarresi M, Pini LA, Calabresi P. Increased Levels of Neurotrophins Are Not Specific for Chronic Migraine: Evidence From Primary Fibromyalgia Syndrome. J Pain. 2007 Sep;8(9):737-45.
- [28] Haas L, Portela LVC, Böhmer AE, Oses JP, Lara DR. Increased Plasma Levels of Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) in Patients with Fibromyalgia. *Neurochem Res.* 2010 May;35(5):830-4.
- [29] Nugraha B, Karst M, Engeli S, Gutenbrunner C: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and exercise in fibromyalgia syndrome patients: a mini review. *Rheumatol Int.* 2012; Sep;32(9): 2593-2599.
- [30] Nugraha B, Korallus C, Gutenbrunner C: Serum level of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in fibromyalgia syndrome correlates with depression but not anxiety. *Neurochem Int.* 2013; Feb;62(3): 281-286.
- [31]Russell IJ, Michalek JE, Vipraio GA, Fletcher EM, Javors MA, Bowden CA. Platelet [<sup>3</sup>H]-imipramine uptake receptor density and serum serotonin levels in patients with fibromyalgia/fibrositis syndrome. *J Rheumatol.* 1992 Jan;19(1):104-9.
- [32]Russell IJ, Vaeroy H, Javors M, Nyberg F. Cerebrospinal fluid biogenic amine metabolites in fibromyalgia/fibrositis syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1992 May;35(5):550-6.
- [33] Marazziti D, Baroni S, Giannaccini G, Catena Dell'Osso M, Consoli G, Picchetti M, Carlini M, Massimetti G, Provenzano S, Galassi A. Thermal balneotherapy induces changes of the platelet serotonin transporter in healthy subjects. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2007 Oct 1;31(7):1436-9.

- [34]Marazziti D, Dell'Osso B, Baroni S, Betti L, Catena M, Giannaccini G, Lucacchini A, Cassano GB. Common alterations in the serotonin transporter in platelets and lymphocytes of psychotic patients. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. 2006 Jan;39(1):35-8.
- [35]Bruce KR, Steiger H, Ng Ying Kin NM, Israel M. Reduced platelet [<sup>3</sup>H]paroxetine binding in anorexia nervosa: relationship to eating symptoms and personality pathology. *Psychiatry Res.* 2006 Jun 15;142(2-3):225-32.
- [36]Ekman A, Sundblad-Elverfors C, Landén M, Eriksson T, Eriksson E. Low density and high affinity of platelet [3H]paroxetine binding in women with bulimia nervosa. *Psychiatry Res.* 2006 Jun 15;142(2-3):219-23.
- [37] Bazzichi L, Giannaccini G, Betti L, Fabbrini L, Schmid L, Palego L, Giacomelli C, Rossi A, Giusti L, De Feo F, Giuliano T, Mascia G, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. ATP, calcium and magnesium levels in platelets of patients with primary fibromyalgia. *Clin Biochem.* 2008 Sep;41(13):1084-90.
- [38]Kasper S. The psychiatrist confronted with a fibromyalgia patient. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* **2009**; 24: S25-S30.
- [39] Natelson BH. Fibromyalgia syndrome: diagnosis and comorbidities. *CNS Spectr.***2009**; 14: 8-11; discussion 17-18.
- [40]Clauw DJ. Assessing and diagnosing fibromyalgia in the clinical setting. J Clin Psychiatry. 2008; 69: e33.
- [41] Wolfe F, Clauw DJ, Fitzcharles MA, Goldenberg DL, Katz RS, Mease P, Russell AS, Russell IJ, Winfield JB, Yunus MB. The American College of Rheumatology preliminary diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia and measurement of symptom severity. *Arthritis Care Res* (Hoboken). **2010** May;62(5):600-10.
  - [42] Adkins JN, Varnum SM, Auberry KJ, Moore RJ, Angell NH, Smith RD, Springer DL, Pounds JG. Toward a human blood serum proteome: analysis by

multidimensional separation coupled with mass spectrometry. *Mol Cell Proteomics.* **2002** Dec;1(12):947-55.

- [43] Fusaro VA, Stone JH. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics and analyses of serum: a primer for the clinical investigator. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2003 Nov-Dec;21(6 Suppl 32):S3-14.
- [44] Baldini C, Giusti L, Bazzichi L, Ciregia F, Giannaccini G, Giacomelli C, Doveri M, Del Rosso M, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. Association of psoriasin (S100A7) with clinical manifestations of systemic sclerosis: is its presence in whole saliva a potential predictor of pulmonary involvement? *J Rheumatol.* 2008 Sep;35(9):1820-4.
- [45]Giusti L, Bazzichi L, Baldini C, Ciregia F, Mascia G, Giannaccini G, Del Rosso M, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. Specific proteins identified in whole saliva from patients with diffuse systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol.* 2007 Oct;34(10):2063-9.
- [46]Baldini C, Giusti L, Ciregia F, Da Valle Y, Giacomelli C, Donadio E, Sernissi F, Bazzichi L, Giannaccini G, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. Proteomic analysis of saliva: a unique tool to distinguish primary Sjögren's syndrome from secondary Sjögren's syndrome and other sicca syndromes. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2011;13(6):R194.
- [47] Baldini C, Giusti L, Bazzichi L, Lucacchini A, Bombardieri S. Proteomic analysis of the saliva: a clue for understanding primary from secondary Sjögren's syndrome? *Autoimmun Rev.* 2008 Jan;7(3):185-91.
- [48]Giusti L, Baldini C, Bazzichi L, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. Proteomic diagnosis of Sjögren's syndrome. *Expert Rev Proteomics*. 2007 Dec;4(6):757-67.
- [49]Giusti L, Baldini C, Bazzichi L, Ciregia F, Tonazzini I, Mascia G, GiannacciniG, Bombardieri S, Lucacchini A. Proteome analysis of whole saliva: a new tool

for rheumatic diseases--the example of Sjögren's syndrome. *Proteomics*. **2007** May;7(10):1634-43.

- [50]Ciregia F, Giusti L, Molinaro A, Niccolai F, Agretti P, Rago T, Di Coscio G, Vitti P, Basolo F, Iacconi P, Tonacchera M, Lucacchini A. Presence in the presurgical fine-needle aspiration of potential thyroid biomarkers previously identified in the post-surgical one. *PLoS One.* **2013** Sep 2;8(9):e72911.
- [51]Giusti L, Iacconi P, Ciregia F, Giannaccini G, Donatini GL, Basolo F, Miccoli P, Pinchera A, Lucacchini A. Fine-needle aspiration of thyroid nodules: proteomic analysis to identify cancer biomarkers. *J Proteome Res.* 2008 Sep;7(9):4079-88.
- [52]Giusti L, Iacconi P, Ciregia F, Giannaccini G, Basolo F, Donatini G, Miccoli P, Lucacchini A. Proteomic analysis of human thyroid fine needle aspiration fluid. *J Endocrinol Invest.* 2007 Nov;30(10):865-9.
- [53] Samland AK, Sprenger GA. Transaldolase: from biochemistry to human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2009 Jul;41(7):1482-94.
- [54]Ozgocmen S, Ozyurt H, Sogut S, Akyol O. Current concepts in the pathophysiology of fibromyalgia: the potential role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide. *Rheumatol Int.* 2006 May;26(7):585-97.
- [55] Chung CP, Titova D, Oeser A, Randels M, Avalos I, Milne GL, Morrow JD, Stein CM. Oxidative stress in fibromyalgia and its relationship to symptoms. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2009 Apr;28(4):435-8.
- [56] Altindag O, Celik H. Total antioxidant capacity and the severity of the pain in patients with fibromyalgia. *Redox Rep.* **2006**;11(3):131-5.
- [57]Kondoh H, Lleonart ME, Bernard D, Gil J. Protection from oxidative stress by enhanced glycolysis; a possible mechanism of cellular immortalization. *Histol Histopathol.* 2007 Jan;22(1):85-90.

- [58] Sarzi-Puttini P, Atzeni F, Cazzola M. Neuroendocrine therapy of fibromyalgia syndrome: an update. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* **2010** Apr;1193:91-7.
- [59] Sarzi-Puttini P, Buskila D, Carrabba M, Doria A, Atzeni F. Treatment Strategy in Fibromyalgia Syndrome: Where Are We Now? *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2008 Jun;37(6):353-65.
- [60] van Eijk-Hustings Y, Kroese M, Tan F, Boonen A, Bessems-Beks M, Landewé R. Challenges in demonstrating the effectiveness of multidisciplinary treatment on quality of life, participation and health care utilisation in patients with fibromyalgia: a randomised controlled trial. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2013 Feb;32(2):199-209.
- [61] Lawson K. Treatment options and patient perspectives in the management of fibromyalgia: future trends. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* 2008 Dec;4(6):1059-71.
- [62] Fioravanti A, Giordano N and Galeazzi M. (2012). Fibromyalgia Syndrome and Spa Therapy, Neuropathic Pain, Dr. Cyprian Chukwunonye Udeagha (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0452-0, *InTech*.
- [63] Köllner V, Häuser W, Klimczyk K, Kühn-Becker H, Settan M, Weig M, Bernardy K. Psychotherapy for patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. Systematic review, meta-analysis and guideline. *Schmerz.* 2012; Jun;26(3): 291-6.
- [64]Langhorst J, Häuser W, Bernardy K, Lucius H, Settan M, Winkelmann A, Musial F. Complementary and alternative therapies for fibromyalgia syndrome. Systematic review, meta-analysis and guideline. *Schmerz.* 2012; Jun;26(3): 311-7.
- [65] Winkelmann A, Häuser W, Friedel E, Moog-Egan M, Seeger D, Settan M, Weiss T, Schiltenwolf M. Physiotherapy and physical therapies for fibromyalgia syndrome. Systematic review, meta-analysis and guideline. *Schmerz.* 2012; Jun;26(3): 276-86.
- [66] Falagas ME, Zarkadoulia E, Rafailidis PI. The therapeutic effect of balneotherapy: evaluation of the evidence from randomised controlled trials. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2009; Jul;63(7): 1068-84.
- [67] Bender T, Karagülle Z, Bálint GP, Gutenbrunner C, Bálint PV, Sukenik S. Hydrotherapy, balneotherapy, and spa treatment in pain management. *Rheumatol Int.* 2005 Apr;25(3):220-4.
- [68]Cimbiz A, Bayazit V, Hallaceli H, Cavlak U. The effect of combined therapy (spa and physical therapy) on pain in various chronic diseases. *Complement Ther Med.* 2005 Dec;13(4):244-50.
- [69]Guidelli GM, Tenti S, De Nobili E, Fioravanti A. Fibromyalgia syndrome and spa therapy: myth or reality? *Clin Med Insights Arthritis Musculoskelet Disord*.
  2012;5:19-26.
- [70] Fioravanti A, Cantarini L, Guidelli GM, Galeazzi M. Mechanisms of action of spa therapies in rheumatic diseases: what scientific evidence is there? *Rheumatol Int.* 2011 Jan;31(1):1-8.
- [71] Ablin JN, Häuser W, Buskila D. Spa treatment (balneotherapy) for fibromyalgiaa qualitative-narrative review and a historical perspective. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* **2013**;2013:638050.
- [72] Fioravanti A, Perpignano G, Tirri G, Cardinale G, Gianniti C, Lanza CE, Loi A, Tirri E, Sfriso P, Cozzi F. Effects of mud-bath treatment on fibromyalgia patients: a randomized clinical trial. *Rheumatol Int.* 2007 Oct;27(12):1157-61.
- [73] Bazzichi L, Rossi A, Massimetti G, Giannaccini G, Giuliano T, De Feo F, Ciapparelli A, Dell'Osso L, Bombardieri S. Cytokine patterns in fibromyalgia and their correlation with clinical manifestations. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2007 Mar-Apr;25(2):225-30.

- [74]Ortega E, García JJ, Bote ME, Martín-Cordero L, Escalante Y, Saavedra JM, Northoff H, Giraldo E. Exercise in fibromyalgia and related inflammatory disorders: known effects and unknown chances. *Exerc Immunol Rev.* 2009;15:42-65. Review.
- [75] Wang H, Moser M, Schiltenwolf M, Buchner M. Circulating cytokine levels compared to pain in patients with fibromyalgia -- a prospective longitudinal study over 6 months. *J Rheumatol.* 2008 Jul;35(7):1366-70.
- [76] Ardiç F, Ozgen M, Aybek H, Rota S, Cubukçu D, Gökgöz A. Effects of balneotherapy on serum IL-1, PGE2 and LTB4 levels in fibromyalgia patients. *Rheumatol Int.* 2007 Mar;27(5):441-6.
- [77]Buskila D, Abu-Shakra M, Neumann L, Odes L, Shneider E, Flusser D, Sukenik
  S. Balneotherapy for fibromyalgia at the Dead Sea. *Rheumatol Int.* 2001 Apr;20(3):105-8.
- [78] Neumann L, Sukenik S, Bolotin A, Abu-Shakra M, Amir M, Flusser D, Buskila D. The effect of balneotherapy at the Dead Sea on the quality of life of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2001;20(1):15-9.
- [79]Evcik D, Kizilay B, Gökçen E. The effects of balneotherapy on fibromyalgia patients. *Rheumatol Int.* **2002** Jun;22(2):56-9.
- [80] Dönmez A, Karagülle MZ, Tercan N, Dinler M, Işsever H, Karagülle M, Turan M. SPA therapy in fibromyalgia: a randomised controlled clinic study. *Rheumatol Int.* 2005 Dec;26(2):168-72.
- [81]Ozkurt S, Dönmez A, Zeki Karagülle M, Uzunoğlu E, Turan M, Erdoğan N. Balneotherapy in fibromyalgia: a single blind randomized controlled clinical study. *Rheumatol Int.* 2012 Jul;32(7):1949-54.
- [82] Bazzichi L, Da Valle Y, Rossi A, Giacomelli C, Sernissi F, Giannaccini G, Betti L, Ciregia F, Giusti L, Scarpellini P, Dell'osso L, Marazziti D, Bombardieri S,

Lucacchini A. A multidisciplinary approach to study the effects of balneotherapy and mud-bath therapy treatments on fibromyalgia. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* **2013** Nov-Dec;31(6 Suppl 79):111-20.

- [83]Blanco I, Janciauskiene S, Nita I, Fernández-Bustillo E, Cárcaba V, Gallo C, Alvarez-Rico M, de Serres F, Béridze N. Low plasma levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFalpha), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in patients with alpha1antitrypsin deficiency-related fibromyalgia. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2010 Feb;29(2):189-97.
- [84]Blanco LE, de Serres FJ, Fernańdez-Bustillo E, Kassam DA, Arbesú D, Rodríguez C, Torre JC. alpha1-Antitrypsin and fibromyalgia: new data in favour of the inflammatory hypothesis of fibromyalgia. *Med Hypotheses*. 2005;64(4):759-69.
- [85] Van Oostrum J, Voshol H. The human genome: proteomics. *Am J Psychiatry*.2002; 159: 208.
- [86] Wilkins MR, Pasquali C, Appel RD, Ou K, Golaz O, Sanchez JC, Yan JX, Gooley AA, Hughes G, Humphery-Smith I, Williams KL, Hochstrasser DF. From proteins to proteomes: large scale protein identification by two-dimensional electrophoresis and amino acid analysis. *Biotechnology (NY)*. 1996; 14: 61–65.
- [87] de Hoog CL, Mann M. Proteomics. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2004;5:267–293.
- [88] Matthiesen R, Mutenda KE. Introduction to proteomics. *Methods Mol Biol.*2007; 367: 1-35.

- [89]Zhang X, Fang A, Riley CP, Wang M, Regnier FE, Buck C. Multi-dimensional liquid chromatography in proteomics--a review. *Anal Chim Acta*. 2010; 664:101-113.
- [90] Rabilloud T. Solubilization of proteins for electrophoretic analysis. *Electrophoresis*. **1996**; 17: 813-829.
- [91]Görg A, Boguth G, Harder A, Obermaier C, Scheibe B, Wildgruber R, Weiss W. Two-Dimensional Electrophoresis of Proteins using Immobilized pH Gradients. A laboratory manual. *http://www.weihenstephan.de/blm/deg* 1998.
- [92] Herbert BR, Sanchez, JC, Bini L. Two-dimensional electrophoresis: The state of the art and future directions. *In*: Wilkins MR, Williams KL, Appel RD, Hochstrasser DF. (eds) *Proteome Research: New Frontiers in Functional Genomics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York.* **1997**; 13-33.
- [93] Dunn MJ. Gel electrophoresis of proteins. *BIOS Scientific Publishers Ltd. Alden Press, Oxford.* **1993**.
- [94] Rabilloud T, Valette C, Lawrence JJ. Sample application by in-gel rehydration improves the resolution of two-dimensional electrophoresis with immobilized pH-gradients in the first dimension. *Electrophoresis*. **1994**; 15: 1552-1558.
- [95]Fichmann J. 2-D proteome analysis protocols-Advantages of Immobilized pH Gradients. *Methods in Molecular Biology*<sup>™</sup>. **1999**; 112: 173-174.
- [96] Bjellqvist B, Ek K, Righetti PG, Gianazza E, Görg A, Westermeier R, Postel W. Isoelectric focusing in immobilized pH gradients: principle, methodology and some applications. *J Biochem Biophys Methods* . **1982**; 6:317-339.
- [97]Görg A, Postel W, Günther S. The current state of two-dimensional electrophoresis with immobilized pH gradients. *Electrophoresis*. 1988; 9: 531-546.

- [98] Blomberg A, Blomberg L, Norbeck J, Fey SJ, Larsen PM, Larsen M, Roepstorff P, Degand H, Boutry M, Posch A, et al. Interlaboratory reproducibility of yeast protein patterns analyzed by immobilized pH gradient two dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*. **1995**; 6:1935-1945.
- [99] Görg A, Obermaier C, Boguth G, Harder A, Scheibe B, Wildgruber R, Weiss W. The current state of two-dimensional electrophoresis with immobilized pH gradients. *Electrophoresis*. 2000; 21:1037-1053.
- [100] Görg A, Postel W, Weser J, Günther S, Strahler SR, Hanash SM,
  Somerlot L. Elimination of point streaking on silver stained two-dimensional gels by addition of iodoacetamide to the equilibration buffer. *Electrophoresis*. 1987;8: 122-124.
- [101] Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets. Procedure and some applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1979; 76: 4350-4354.
- [102] Aude-Garcia C, Collin-Faure V, Luche S, Rabilloud T. Improvements and simplifications in in-gel fluorescent detection of proteins using ruthenium II tris-(bathophenanthrolinedisulfonate): the poor man's fluorescent detection method. *Proteomics* 2011; 11(2): 324-8.
- [103] Ishihama Y. Proteomic LC-MS systems using nanoscale liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A*. **2005** Mar 4;1067(1-2):73-83.
- [104] Gaspari M and Cuda G. Nano LC-MS/MS: A Robust Setup for Proteomic Analysis. Steven A. Toms and Robert J. Weil (eds.), *Nanoproteomics: Methods* and Protocols, Methods in Molecular Biology, vol. 790, DOI 10.1007/978-1-61779-319-6\_9, © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2011
- [105] Hu S, Loo JA, Wong DT. Human body fluid proteome analysis. *Proteomics*.2006; 6: 6326-6353.

- [106] Streckfus CF, Dubinsky WP. Proteomic analysis of saliva for cancer diagnosis. *Expert Rev Proteomics.* 2007; 4:329-332.
- [107] Papale M, Pedicillo MC, Di Paolo S, Thatcher BJ, Lo Muzio L, Bufo P, Rocchetti MT, Centra M, Ranieri E, Gesualdo L. Saliva analysis by surfaceenhanced laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF/MS): from sample collection to data analysis. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 2008; 46: 89-99.
- [108] Burckhardt CS, Clark SR, Bennett RM. The fibromyalgia impact questionnaire: development and validation. *J Rheumatol.* 1991;18: 728-33.
- [109] Sarzi-Puttini P, Atzeni F, Fiorini T, Panni B, Randisi G, Turiel M, Carrabba M.
  Validation of an Italian version of the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ-I). *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2003; 21(4): 459-64.
- [110] Fries JF, Spitz P, Kraines RG, Holman HR. Measurement of patient outcome in arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1980; Feb;23(2): 137-45.
- [111] Ranza R, Marchesoni A, Calori G, Bianchi G, Braga M, Canazza S, Canesi B, Fumagalli M, Mastaglio C, Mathieu A, et al. The Italian version of the Functional Disability Index of the Health Assessment Questionnaire. A reliable instrument for multicenter studies on rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*. 1993; Mar-Apr;11(2): 123-128.
- [112] Webster K, Cella D, Yost K. The Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) Measurement System: properties, applications, and interpretation. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* 2003; Dec 16;1: 79.
- [113] Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'Cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T, Westlake L. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. *BMJ*. **1992**; Jul 18;305(6846): 160-4.

- [114] APA. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual for mental disorders. 4. Washington: APA; DSM-IV.
- [115] FIRST et al 1997. In M.B. First, R.L. Spitzer, M. Gibbon and J.B.W. Williams, Editors, *Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders-Patient Edition* (SCID-I/P, Version 2.0, 4/97 revision) (1997) Biometrics Research Department, New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- [116] Giannaccini G, Betti L, Palego L, Marsili A, Santini F, Pelosini C, Fabbrini L, Schmid L, Giusti L, Maffei M, Lanza M, Cristofaro M, Baroni S, Mauri M, Vitti P, Fierabracci P, Lucacchini A. The expression of platelet serotonin transporter (SERT) in human obesity. *BMC Neurosci.* 2013 Oct 18;14(1):128.
- [117] Sukenik S, Flusser D, Abu-Shakra M. The role of spa therapy in various rheumatic diseases. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* 1999 Nov;25(4):883-97.
- [118] Cozzi F, Lazzarin P, Todesco S, Cima L. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation in healthy subjects undergoing mud-bath applications. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1995 May;38(5):724-6.
- [119] Pizzoferrato A, Garzia I, Cenni E, Pratelli L, Tarabusi C. Beta-endorphin and stress hormones in patients affected by osteoarthritis undergoing thermal mud therapy. *Minerva Med.* 2000 Oct;91(10):239-45.
- [120] Toda M, Morimoto K, Nagasawa S, Kitamura K. Change in salivary physiological stress markers by spa bathing. *Biomed Res.* 2006 Feb;27(1):11-4.
- [121] Neeck G. Pathogenic mechanisms of fibromyalgia. Ageing Res Rev. 2002 Apr;1(2):243-55.
- [122] Legangneux E, Mora JJ, Spreux-Varoquaux O, Thorin I, Herrou M, Alvado G, Gomeni C. Cerebrospinal fluid biogenic amine metabolites, plasma-rich platelet serotonin and [3H]imipramine reuptake in the primary fibromyalgia syndrome. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2001 Mar;40(3):290-6.

[123] Eckardt K, Schober A, Platzbecker B, Mracek T, Bing C, Trayhurn P, Eckel J. The adipokine zinc-α2-glycoprotein activates AMP kinase in human primary skeletal muscle cells. *Arch Physiol Biochem.* 2011 May;117(2):88-93.